

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2020

Understanding Male Perpetrated Intimate Partner Violence and Women's Demands for Condom Use

Linda Musu Edwards *Walden University*

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Nursing Commons, and the Public Health Education and Promotion Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Health Sciences

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Linda Musu Edwards

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Leslie Hussey, Committee Chairperson, Nursing Faculty Dr. Eileen Fowles, Committee Member, Nursing Faculty Dr. Francisca Farrar, University Reviewer, Nursing Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2020

Abstract

Understanding Male Perpetrated Intimate Partner Violence and Women's Demands for

Condom Use

by

Linda Musu Edwards

MN, University of Washington, 2011

BSN, University of Washington, 2009

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Health Care Administration

Walden University

May 2020

Abstract

Sub-Saharan Africa is host to more than 70% (25.5 million) of people with HIV/AIDS. More than half of the reported cases of people living with HIV/AIDS are women who are twice as likely to contract HIV than males in sub-Saharan Africa. The purpose of this study guided by the Theory of Planned Behavior was to determine if a relationship between female demands for male partner condom use and male perpetrated intimate partner violence (MPIPV) in opposite sex cohabitating or married couples, as well as examine the relationship between the risk factors of age, education level, socioeconomic status, history of MPIPV, and women's demands for male partner condom use. Three hundred and thirteen women between the ages of 18-35 residing in Liberia anonymously completed the Sexual Relationship Power Scale. Using multiple regression analysis, the results showed that women's demands for male partner use was related to risk for MPIPV, a history of MPIPV was related to women's decreased demands for male partner condom use, and some of the sociodemographic characteristics of age, education, socioeconomic status (employment), and history of MPIPV were related to women's decreased demands for male partner condom use. The results from this study have the potential for contributing to positive social change by guiding the development of targeted gender-based HIV programs and increase awareness of MPIPV as a contributing factor to HIV risk exposure among women. Recommendations for future research include studies examining larger population of women to include sexually active women instead of the age limitation.

Understanding Male Perpetrated Intimate Partner Violence and Women's Demands for

Condom Use

by

Linda Musu Edwards

MN, University of Washington, 2011

BSN, University of Washington, 2009

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Health Care Administration

Walden University

May 2020

Dedication

I thank God for his merciful and gracious blessings in my life, and for giving me the strength, courage, and endurance to complete this PhD program and dissertation research study. I thank my family, especially my husband for being my solace and calming spirit in times of my distress during this academic journey. I dedicate this study to my son, Christian, for his unwavering love, support, and encouragement. I thank you for your kindness, gentleness and understanding spirit.

To my guardian angels, this one is for you too. Your presence was ever so close, lighting and guiding me to persevere and endure this journey. You all are gone but never forgotten! The dream and journey continues!

Acknowledgments

I wish to thank my Committee Chair, Dr. Leslie Hussey for her help, guidance, firm support, expertise, and for believing in me. I am grateful for your encouragement and leadership, and for challenging me with your classic "you can do this, Linda" approach. It was an honor to work with you. You taught me the true meaning of Servant Leadership.

I want to extend my sincere gratitude to my Committee Member, Dr. Eileen Fowles for her assistance and direction. You provided me insight into the value of this study when I was my own worst critic.

I want to thank everyone who embarked on this journey with me, who listened to me and shared their knowledge and expertise. I will be eternally grateful.

"It always seems impossible until it's done." ~~ Nelson Mandela

List of Tables	. iv
List of Figures	v
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study	1
Introduction	1
Background of the Study	3
Problem Statement	6
Purpose of the Study	7
Research Questions and Hypotheses	8
Theoretical Framework	.11
Nature of the Study	.12
Definitions	.14
Assumptions	.17
Scope and Delimitations	.17
Limitations	.18
Significance	.20
Summary	.21
Chapter 2: Literature Review	.23
Introduction	.23
Literature Search Strategy	.26
Theoretical Foundation	.27
Theory of Planned Behavior in HIV Studies	31

Table of Contents

Theoretical Framework for the Sexual Relationship Power Scale (SRPS)	35
The Gender and Power and Social Exchange Theories	35
Interacting Theories: Theory of Planned Behavior, Gender and Power, and	
Social Exchange Theory	37
Literature Review Related to Key Variables	39
Knowledge, Attitude, and Perception: Male Condom Use in sub-Saharan	
Africa	39
Liberia HIV/AIDS Overview: Identified Gap in Knowledge, Attitude, and	
Behavior	43
Gender-Based Violence: Male Perpetrated Intimate Partner Violence and	
Negotiating Condom Use among Women	44
The Social Determinants of Male Perpetrated Intimate Partner Violence:	
Barrier to Women's Demands for Male Partner Condom and HIV	45
Summary and Conclusions	47
Chapter 3: Research Method	49
Introduction	49
Research Design and Rationale	49
Study Variables	49
Methodology	54
Population: Prevalence of HIV/AIDS in Women and Men in Liberia	54
Sampling and Sampling Procedures	55
Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection	56

Instrumentation and Operationalization of Constructs	59
Data Analysis	
Research Questions and Hypotheses	
Threats to Validity	66
Threats to External Validity	
Threats to Internal Validity	
Ethical Procedures	69
Summary	70
Chapter 4: Results	71
Introduction	71
Data Collection	72
Statistics Table for Variables	
Research Question 1	
Research Question 2	
Research Question 3	
Summary	
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations	
Introduction	
Appendix A: Demographic Questionnaire	
Appendix B: Research Survey Questions	
Appendix C: SRPS Permission Request Letter and Response.	

List of Tables

Table 1. Cronbach Reliability Statistics for DMDS (Demands)
Table 2. Cronbach Reliability Statistics for RCS Subscale 85
Table 3. Cronbach Reliability Statistics for Risk
Table 4. Cronbach Reliability Statistics for History of MPIPV 87
Table 5. Number of Outliers Detected for Demands, Risk, and History 87
Table 6. Frequency Table for Age, Education, Socioeconomic Status 88
Table 7. Frequency Table for History of MPIPV 89
Table 8. Cronbach Reliability Statistics for DMDS (Demands)
Table 9. Variance nflation Factors for Demands Scale DMDS 95
Table 10. Results for Regression with Demands Scale Items DMDS 98
Table 11. Variance Inflation Factors of History of MPIPV Scale Items 102
Table 12. Results for Linear Regression History of MPIPV, Age, Education, and
Employment
Table 13. Variance Inflation Factor for History of MPIPV, Age, education, and
Employment
Table 14. Results for Linear Regression Between History of MPIPV Scale Items (RCS),
Age, Education, Employment & Demands115

List of Figures

Figure 1. Graphic Model of TPB Constructs	33
Figure 2. Interacting Theories of TPB, Gender and Power, and Social Exchange	42
Figure 3. Q-Q Scatterplot for Regression Model	93
Figure 4. Residuals Scatterplot Testing Homoscedasticity	94
Figure 5. Studentized Residuals Plot for Outlier Detection	96
Figure 6. Q-Q Scatterplot for Regression Model	100
Figure 7. Studentized Residuals Plot for Outlier Detection	101
Figure 8. Q-Q Scatterplot for Regression Model	103
Figure 9. Residuals Scatterplot Testing Homoscedasticity	107
Figure 10. Graphic Model of TPB constructs	108
Figure 11. Studentized Residuals Plot for Outlier Detection	110

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

Introduction

The sub-Saharan region of Africa, particularly in the West and Central African nations such as Liberia, Nigeria, Cameroon, Chad, Côte d'Ivoire, Democratic Republic of the Congo, Ghana, Guinea, and Mali, and in East and Southern African countries such as Kenya, Burundi, Lesotho, Swaziland, and South Africa is one of the regions of the world worst affected by the HIV and AIDS epidemic. The AVERT report has estimated that 25.5 million people in this region, which is more than 70% of the global epidemic are infected. This contributes to millions of children becoming orphans, because it is not uncommon for one or both parents to have the virus and die from complications related to the disease in this region. With a population estimate of 2.1 million new HIV infections worldwide in 2015, 1.37 million (65%) occurred in sub-Saharan Africa (World Health Organization, [WHO] 2017), and 40% of all people living with HIV do not know that they have the virus (AVERT, n.d), meaning that this region is faced with a public health crisis.

The HIV/AIDS infection is far more prevalent among women, with women being at a higher exposure risk, and twice as likely to contract HIV as their male counterparts (AVERT, n.d). Women constitute more than half of the reported cases of people living with the HIV/AIDS, with the disease reportedly being the leading cause of death for women of reproductive age (15-44; AVERT, n.d). In addition, evidence has emerged that male perpetrated intimate partner violence (MPIPV) has a relationship to the disproportionate rate of HIV/AIDS infection among women (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention [CDC], 2014; Jones et al. 2013; Kaye 2004; Watts & Seeley, 2014). The statistics on the rate of infection, coupled with the differences in HIV infection rates in females compared to their male counterparts, indicates that promoting awareness of the importance of gender-based comprehensive education on HIV/AIDS infection and risky sexual behavior practices are important considerations for public health programs. Given the breadth of research on the HIV/AIDS infection rates in sub-Saharan Africa and progress made in many aspects of the global response to the pandemic, some of the social issues such as gender inequality and other confounding factors that limits a woman's choice to fully engage in sexual negotiation surrounding male partner protective barrier use remains to be investigated (CDC, 2014).

I conducted this study to investigate the gender inequality discourse in sub-Saharan Africa, specifically MPIPV and its relationship to risky sexual behavior among women as it related to female demands for male partner condom use or condom use negotiation. The objective was to understand the relationship between the risk factors of age, education level, socioeconomic status (income) and women's demands for male partner condom use for women experiencing history of MPIPV in heterosexual cohabitating or married couples.

The findings from this study may help make key recommendations to international and domestic health policy makers to ensure that HIV/AIDS prevention education programs are targeted toward at-risk populations and resources are maximized to focus on eliminating barriers and constraints to women's ability to safely engage in request for male partner condom use without fear of MPIPV. In addition, findings from this study will contribute to the body of knowledge supporting the development of strategic gender-based education to create HIV/AIDS intervention public health policies and programs promoting MPIPV awareness and programs geared toward eliminating the perpetuation and tolerance of violence against women.

In this chapter, I present an introduction to the study to include the background of the problem. Specifically, I discuss why the topic is of interest and important and present the purpose of the research, the research questions and hypotheses, theoretical framework, and nature of the study. Lastly, I discuss the assumptions, delimitations and limitations for this dissertation, and significance.

Background of the Study

As the second largest continent in the world, Africa covers nearly 12 million square miles, with approximately 22% of the total land area in the world (World Population Data Sheet, 2013). Most of the continent is host to the sub-Saharan region which covers all but the northernmost countries and a population growth from 186 million to 856 million between 1950-2010 (World Population Data Sheet, 2013). Despite this growth in population, sub-Saharan Africa is one of the world's poorest regions (World Population Data Sheet, 2013) that, is also faced with numerous challenges like an increasing political and socio-economic instability, as well as an increase in the HIV/AIDS infections contributing to a major public health crisis (AVERT, n.d). The West and Central African regions are home to 6.5 million people, with reports showing a disproportionate rate of HIV/AIDS infection among women, accounting for 54% of adults living with HIV/AIDS (AVERT, n.d). According to the U.S. Department of Health & Human Services Secretary's Minority AIDS Initiative Fund (2018), in 2016, there were 19.4 million people living with HIV (53%) in eastern and southern Africa, 6.1 million (17%) in Western and Central Africa.

Despite the availability of safe sex educational resources, the infection rates, especially among women, have created significant implications for social and economic development (Rigby & Johnson, 2017). According to the 2015 Millennium Goal Report, the disproportionate infection rates between men and women contribute to the disruption of the economic and social infrastructure as well as the basic tenet of the family structure (United Nations Millennium Development Goals Report, 2015). Adding to the limited health and social infrastructure, is the impact of the HIV/AIDS crisis that continues to place a strain on the political economy, affecting the social aspect of these disintegrated societies, many still recovering from years of civil and political unrests (United Nations Millennium Development Goals Report, 2015).

Further, despite global availability and accessibility of treatment, safe sex education and protective barrier resources, most countries in this region struggle to provide comprehensive education to at risk population. AVERT (n.d) reported that "knowledge about HIV among young people in the region is alarmingly low, with only 24% of young women and 31% of young men able to display comprehensive and correct knowledge of how to prevent HIV" (para. 11). The disproportionate knowledge on safe sex behavior practices may have an association with risky sexual behavior and HIV infection risk exposure in heterosexual couples. Although some research findings surrounding cultural norms have been tenuous, controversial, and disputable (Sovran, 2013), other findings have shown a relationship between the social construct of gender inequality, gender-based (male-female) violence, and increase in HIV vulnerability in women (AVERT, n.d; Jewkes, Dunkle, & Nduna, 2010). Furthermore, findings have shown a relationship between MPIPV and risky sexual behavior practices contributing to the high risk of contracting HIV among women in this region (CDC, 2014; Jones et al. 2013; Kaye 2004; Watts & Seeley, 2014).

There is a large body of literature that supports the need for gender specific safe sex education that includes knowledge on risky sexual behavior practices stemming from MPIPV (Jones et al. 2013; Kaye 2004; Watts & Seeley, 2014). However, specific strategies and or interventions that focus on the relationship of MPIPV and female demands for male partner condom use are not well represented in the literature. Research on specific topics related to a woman's demand for condom use and risk for MPIPV or history of MPIPV on a woman's demand for condom use is limited. Thus, I examined this topic by analyzing data from the survey questionnaires to determine if a relationship existed between female partner demands for condom use and MPIPV and factors that influence or prevent their demands for male partner condom use for women experiencing history of MPIPV. Findings from this study may contribute to the development of gender empowerment programs to address the differential of power dynamics among women and men as it relates to sexual negotiation power and the potential barrier of MPIPV, promoting gender-based strategies for HIV prevention, and reducing women exposure to risky sexual behavior practices.

Problem Statement

HIV/AIDS continues to be one of the deadliest diseases affecting the world. With over 35 million people living with the disease globally, the HIV/AIDS crisis has extended far beyond the reported death toll in certain regions of the world (United Nations Millennium Development Goals Report, 2015). More than 90% of all reported HIV/AIDS cases out of the world statistics identified are on the continent of Africa, with some regions of Africa reporting higher infection rates than others (AVERT, n.d). Although new global infection rates decreased by 40% from 3.5 million in 2000 to 2.1 million cases in 2013, sub-Saharan Africa is faced with the socioeconomic detriments of this disease (United Nations Millennium Development Goals Report, 2015). With reports of new infection rates rising exponentially, this region is severely affected by the HIV/AIDS pandemic (United Nations Millennium Development Goals Report, 2015). It is reported that this region hosts more than 70% of the global epidemic with approximately 25.5 million people living with the virus (AVERT n.d; CDC, 2014), and 1.5 million new infections were reported in 2013 (United Nations Millennium Development Goals Report, 2015).

Additionally, there is a higher infection rate in women than men, with women having a lower knowledge base on HIV/AIDS than men. HIV has continued to disproportionately affect women in sub-Saharan Africa compared to men with women accounting for 54% of adults living with the HIV virus (AVERT, n.d). The United Nations Millennium Development Goals (2015) reported that the disparity in higher rate of infections among women is contributing factor to disruption in the economic and social infrastructure. Other findings have shown that a relationship between the construct of female gender inequality and MPIPV are factors contributing to risky sexual behavior and disproportionate HIV infection rates (AVERT, n.d; CDC, 2014, Kaye, 2004; Watts & Seeley, 2014). Multifactorial reasons including gender inequality have also been associated with this disproportionate rate of infection in women (WHO, 2014; Wingood & DiClemente, 1997).

Gender inequality and the associated male and female power dominance imbalance present a unique set of social dynamics between female demands for male partner condom use and male partner agreement to use condoms. In addition, the reported link between MPIPV and risky sexual behavior practices in female partner impacting safe sex barrier use (WHO, 2014; Wingood, & DiClemente, 1997) must be researched further. However, there is an identified gap in the literature showing a relationship between history of MPIPV and a woman's demands for condom use in married or cohabitating women (CDC, 2014).

The research on specific attitudes and behaviors toward gender inequality, MPIPV, and females engaging in risky sexual behavior is limited, thus supporting this study to expand knowledge on the social and structural determinants of female risk exposures.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this quantitative, correlational study was to determine whether there was a relationship between female partner demands for condom use and MPIPV and, whether history of MPIPV has a relationship with female partner decreased demands for male partner condom use. I also examined whether there was a relationship among the risk factors of age, education level, socioeconomic status (income), history of MPIPV, and women's demands for male partner condom use in opposite sex cohabitating or married couples where women experienced MPIPV.

This study was aimed to address a gap in the literature on gender-based (male on female) violence, increase in female HIV vulnerability, effects of MPIPV, and risky sexual behavior practices among women while contributing to knowledge on factors that influence female demands for male partner condom use.

My selection of this research method and design was consistent with research using this method and design to show correlation or relationship among the predictor and outcome variables (Field, 2015). The predictor variables for this study were women's demands for male partner condom use and history of MPIPV. The outcome variables were risk for MPIPV and female partner decreased demands for male partner condom use. The covariates were age, education level, socioeconomic status (employment), and history of MPIPV. Maintaining the focus on statistical correlation and descriptive analysis among the variables helped to describe the relationship and made this a viable research. Using the research questions, hypotheses, and statistical analysis, findings from this study can contribute to research on the relationship between female demands for male partner condom use and risk for MPIPV and female risky sexual behavior (HIV risk exposure) practices.

Research Questions and Hypotheses

This research was guided by three research questions:

RQ1: What is the relationship between women's demands for male partner condom use to risk for MPIPV, that is, if relationship exists between female partner demands for condom use and risk for MPIPV in heterosexual cohabitating or married couples in West Africa?

H₀: There is no relationship between women's demands for male partner condom use to risk for MPIPV in heterosexual cohabitating or married couples West Africa.

H₁: There is a relationship between women's demands for male partner condom use to risk for MPIPV in heterosexual cohabitating or married couples West Africa.

RQ2: What is the relationship between history of MPIPV to female partner decreased demands for male partner condom use in heterosexual cohabitating or married couples in West Africa?

H₀: There is no relationship between history of MPIPV to female partner decreased demands for male partner condom use in heterosexual cohabitating or married couples in West Africa

H₁: There is relationship between history of MPIPV to female partner decreased demands for male partner condom use in heterosexual cohabitating or married couples in West Africa.

RQ3: What is the relationship between the risk factors of age, education level, socioeconomic status (employment) to women's demands for male partner condom use in women experiencing MPIPV in heterosexual cohabitating or married couples in West Africa? H₁: There is no relationship between the risk factors of age, education level, socioeconomic status (employment) to women's demands for male partner condom use in women experiencing MPIPV in heterosexual cohabitating or married couples in West Africa.

H₁: There is a relationship between the risk factors of age, education level, socioeconomic status (employment) to women's demands for male partner condom use in women experiencing MPIPV in heterosexual cohabitating or married couples in West Africa.

The level of statistical significance was utilized to show the relationship between female partner demands for condom use and MPIPV and whether a relationship existed between MPIPV and female partner demands for male partner condom use in heterosexual cohabitating or married couples. I used descriptive analyses to analyze the demographic variables and multiple linear regression to measure and analyze the relationship between the predictor variables of women's demands for male partner condom use and history of MPIPV, the outcome variables of risk for MPIPV and female partner decreased demands for male partner condom use, and the demographic variables of history of MPIPV, age, education, socioeconomic status (employment) and demands for male partner condom use. Part of the analysis included assessing for assumptions of normality, homogeneity, and the absence of multicollinearity. A continuous numerical measurement of the covariates of age in years was measured in categories, education level in number of years, and socioeconomic status (employment) in categories was conducted for statistical analysis. I also highlighted confounding factors such as MPIPV in heterosexual cohabitating or married couples as mitigating factors influencing safe sex practice such as condom use which contributes to higher risk for female unprotected sexual behaviors.

Theoretical Framework

The theoretical framework that guided this study is Ajzen (1991) theory of planned behavior (TPB). The theory provides an understanding of the interrelating concepts of the social norms, attitudes, beliefs (Ajzen, 1991). These concepts are subsequent contributors to behavior predictability and offer guidance on ways to facilitate behavior change interventions, while mediating the variables between the threat of disrupting social norms and attitudinal changes, and the resulting impact of behavior modification (Hackman & Knowlden, 2014).

The theoretical approach is focused on behavior change and posits that the best predictability of behavior change is a person's behavior intention. For this study, the theory relates to female request and male partner conceding to condom use, or the antecedent (what leads the individual to want to make the change), and the identifiable attitudes toward the behavior being analyzed (see Ajzen, 1991). These include behavior practices that are mediated by individual beliefs and attitudes, including behavior embedded in the social and cultural constructs of the population (Ajzen, 1991). The applicable construct of TPB emerges because of the context of behavior modification as it relates to intended and actual behavior, mitigated by individual attitude or determinants of behavior change, allowing for insight into the antecedents of behavior change. This theory has been used in research focused on establishing relationships as well as interventional strategies because it explains attitude to behavior norms, plan behavior, actual behavior activities, and the antecedent to behavior change. TPB related to my study approach and aligned with my research questions that targeted behavior indicators and is congruent with the utilization of behavior change theory and individual perception about their environment. This theory is also congruent with exploring and developing alternative gender-based HIV/AIDS educational interventions geared towards promoting gender equality and enhancing the ability for women to safely engage in sexual negotiation surrounding the use of male partner condom use. More details on the TPB are provided in Chapter 2.

Nature of the Study

A quantitative cross-sectional correlational design was selected for this study as it aligned with and facilitated findings for this research topic. Furthermore, it was consistent with the nature of the study that sought to understand and facilitate useful findings on relationship between women's demands for male partner condom use and MPIPV. The findings from this quantitative correlational study address this gap in the literature on MPIPV, increase in female HIV vulnerability, effects of MPIPV, and risky sexual behavior practices among women while contributing to knowledge on factors that influences female demands for male partner condom use. The utilization of primary research data using survey questionnaires rather than secondary dataset was plausible for this research. The SurveyMonkey online platform was used for data collection for this study. I used the sexual relationship power scale (SRPS) survey instrument, which has been tested and was shown to be associated with consistent condom use with good internal reliability and predictive and construct validity. The two associated subscales were shown to have good internal consistency measuring the balance of decision-making power in opposite sex relationship. There was no manipulation of the variables and no administration of treatment to participants in this study. The aim of the study was to determine if a relationship existed between the predictor and outcome variables, as opposed to explaining or predicting outcomes. Guided by the TPB constructs of attitude, subjective norms, perceived behavior control, and intentions, the survey was conducted using questionnaire to determine the relationship between female demands for male partner condom use and MPIPV.

The targeted population for my study was female population residing in a sub-Saharan African nation located on the West Coast of Africa. The participants were between the ages of 18-35 and in a heterosexual co-habitating or marital relationship. The participants were recruited using the Internet and social media platform advertisement with listed inclusion criteria.

Data types collected from the survey questionnaire included sexual behavior patterns regarding condom use, perceptions of gender power dominance related to relationship control and decision making, perceptions of relationship gender roles, history of MPIPV related to demands for condom use, and patterns of MPIPV. As part of the data analysis, I operationally defined the variables in the research questions and a method for analysis; as well as the statistical test. I used multiple linear regression as a predictive analysis to explain the relationship between history of and risk for MPIPV and women demands for male partner condom use. Regression analysis was used to focus on describing the degree of relationship between the variables by identifying the strength of the effect that the independent variables, (history of MPIPV and demands for male partner condom use) had on the dependent variables, (demands condom use and risk for MPIPV). In addition, the regression analysis helped to understand how much the dependent variable changed when the independent variables were changed.

Definitions

This section covers the definitions of the predictor variable, outcome variables (study variables), covariates, and study specific terms.

AIDS: Defined as the transmissible disease of the immune system caused by HIV that attacks and destroys the immune system resulting in severe depletion of the body's T cells (Duesberg, 1989).

Community-based HIV/AIDS interventions: Defined as HIV/AIDS health promotion interventions developed to target specific individuals, groups, or organizations that make up the community to provide HIV/AIDS related education and awareness. Community-based HIV/AIDS interventions include knowledge on barrier use, prevention, status, treatment, addressing societal norms, and reducing discriminatory practices and stigmatization (Khumalo-Sakutukwa et al., 2008).

Gender Equality: Defined as the availability of equal chances or opportunities for women and men to access and control social, economic and political resources, including protection under the law such as health services, education and voting rights. It is also known as equality of opportunity or formal equality (WHO, 2017). *Gender Equity:* Defined as the different needs, preferences and interests of women and men and the different treatment that is needed to ensure equality of opportunity for both groups. This is often referred to as substantive equality (or equality of results) and requires considering the realities of women's and men's lives. Gender equity is often used interchangeably with gender equality, but the two refer to different, complementary strategies that are needed to reduce gender-based health inequities (WHO, 2017).

Gender Norms: Defined as beliefs about women and men, boys and girls that are passed from generation to generation through the process of socialization. Gender norm changes over time and differs in different cultures and populations. Gender norms lead to inequality if they reinforce mistreatment of one group or sex over the other and differences in power and opportunities (WHO, 2017).

Gender Relations: Defined as the social relations between and among women and men that are based on gender norms and roles, which often creates hierarchies between and among groups of men and women that can lead to unequal power relations, disadvantaging one group over another (WHO, 2017).

Gender Role: Defined the set expectations that males and females are expected to do in the household, community and workplace in a given society (WHO, 2017).

Gender Unequal: Defined as the socially constructed perceptions that perpetuates gender inequality through reinforcing of unbalanced norms, roles and relations that often leads to one sex enjoying more rights or opportunities than the other (WHO, 2017).

Gender: Defined as a socially constructed characteristics of women and men – such as norms, roles and relationships of and between groups of women and men. It varies from society to society and can be changed (WHO, 2017).

Gender-based discrimination: Defined as any unjust, unequal, and differential treatment that is derived from making a distinction towards a person based on their gender rather than on individual merit (WHO, 2017).

Gender-based violence against women: Defined as threats or acts of violence that is targeted towards a woman that results in suffering to the woman such as harm to her physical, sexual, and mental well-being to include coercion or arbitrary and capricious deprivation of basic rights and liberty. (WHO, 2014).

HIV: Defined as the retrovirus that attacks and destroys the immune system by killing the body's thymus (T) cells which gradually makes the host susceptible to opportunistic infection (Duesberg, 1989).

Intimate partner violence: The CDC (2014) defined intimate partner violence as the use of "physical violence, sexual violence, threats of physical or sexual violence, stalking and psychological aggression including coercive tactics, by a current or former intimate partner" (p. 1).

Male perpetrated intimate partner violence: Defined as the physical violence, sexual violence, threats of physical or sexual violence, stalking and psychological aggression including coercive tactics by an intimate male partner (CDC, 2014).

Assumptions

An assumption in my study was that women in this region desire to have decisionmaking capacity in sexual behavior practices surrounding male partner condom use. Another assumption is that all respondents participating in the survey questionnaire and socio-demographic questionnaire would provide honest responses to questions.

Scope and Delimitations

My study was conducted to determine whether there was a relationship between female demands for male partner condom use and MPIPV as perceived by the women in heterosexual cohabiting or married couples. The decision to study women in sub-Saharan Africa is based on the high rate of HIV/AIDS infection in this population, which is higher than men. Furthermore, study findings have shown MPIPV has a relationship to the disproportionate rate of HIV/AIDS infection among women (CDC, 2014; Jones et al., 2013; Kaye, 2004; Watts & Seeley, 2014), yet studies on condom use negotiation surrounding female demands for male partner condom use and MPIPV are not well represented in the literature. The findings of the study provide knowledge on whether the request for initial condom use by the woman precipitates MPIPV, or whether existing history of MPIPV prevents or decreases women demands for male partner condom use.

The scope of my study included women between the ages of 18 to 35 years old, who were able to read and speak English and are in a heterosexual co-habitating or marital relationship. The participants were recruited via the internet and had to be residents of the Liberia. Delimitations of the study included the following: (a) exclusion of men, because men were not the focus of this study, (b) exclusion of young women below the age of 18, since women age 18-35 were reported to have the highest rate of HVI/AIDS infection in sub-Saharan Africa; and (c) exclusion of unmarried women and women not in a cohabitating relationship, because the study focused on victimization within the context of a co-habitating or marital relationship.

This dissertation was guided by TPB (Ajzen, 1991) which has been used to study health promotion interventions and behavior towards the use of condom (Eggers et.al, 2013; Semungus, Tafese, & Semella, 2016). This theory has been widely used to understand the relationship between attitude and behavior impacted by social and personal norms influencing the immediate determinants of behavior performance (Mtenga, Exavery, Kakoko, & Geubbels, 2015). The Health Belief Model was also considered for this study, but its fundamental structure focuses on health behaviors that are based on the individuals understanding of the consequences of any given action (Tarkang & Zotor, 2015), while the fundamental structure of TPB focuses on societal norms and beliefs (Ajzen, 1991).

Consequently, TPB was selected as the guiding framework as it supports the objectives of the study.

Limitations

The study contained several limitations. One key limitation was the data collection design using the SurveyMonkey platform to gather survey responses (Roztocki, 2001). Collecting data on-line may have had problems such as multiple responses from the same participant due to the anonymity factor, blank or incomplete responses, and invalid or biased responses (Roztocki, 2001). This may have resulted in inaccurate responses to survey questions and data results that may differed from reality. To discourage multiple entries by the participants, I did not provide incentives or compensation to participants.

The age range (18-35) and geographical residency requirements of the study were additional limitations. The limitations of using nonprobability purposive sampling included the fact that the target population was a homogeneous sample, given the age and geographic requirements. This posed a vulnerability to severe hidden biases and the lack of generalizability from the sampled women to women outside of this population. The findings from this study are not representative of women in sub-Saharan Africa and cannot be generalized to the population beyond the age and geographical limits of the sampled population. Furthermore, the online data collection procedure did not permit for participants to be identified and or examined in any central location as they completed the questionnaires online. There was also no guarantee that the individuals who completed the questionnaires were residing in the geographical location or were forthcoming in their demographic self-reports.

Another limitation is that participants who completed the online survey questionnaire who were not technology savvy may have encountered some technical difficulties using a computer or mobile device, especially if they had insufficient online data to support the ability to load and navigate each page with ease. Additionally, online data access along with political protests that ensued during the data collection timeframe may have contributed to the 3 months it took to complete the data collection. Another limitation was the lack of meaningful comparative study findings available on women negotiation of male partner condom use and MPIPV as a barrier to condom use negotiation. These findings could have been helpful to compare to the results of this study. Finally, the lower reliability index values for the selected items from the two subscales used in the study also presented a limitation to this study as selected items may have influenced the results.

Significance

My study is important because of its focus on the HIV/AIDS disproportionate rate of infection among women in sub-Saharan Africa and its relationship to MPIPV. Research indicates that gender inequalities along with the male and female dynamics of gender role, power, male dominance, and female disempowerment and or disenfranchisement have a significant relationship with sexual behavior practices (Jones et al., 2013). Hence, gender inequalities have been identified as a factor contributing to the unresolved disproportionate rate of HIV/AIDS infection in sub-Saharan Africa (Jewkes et al., 2010). This is affecting the social and economic structural determinants of risky behavior practices (Sovran, 2013).

By examining the data to determine whether there was a relationship between female partner demands for condom use and MPIPV and determining the relationship between the risk factors of age, education level, socioeconomic status and women's demands for male partner condom use for women experiencing history of MPIPV, findings from this study can contribute to the development of strategic gender-based programs and interventions (Sovran, 2013). Examining the contextual features of MPIPV and its relationship to the differential rate of HIV/AIDS infection among women will provide insight and recommendations and contribute to the advancement of both policy making and processes to improve female decision-making capacity. Risk reduction strategies that transcend identification of the contours of gender power dynamics and female disenfranchisement are important to understand for policy making purposes. Enhanced knowledge of the MPIPV and its correlation to demands for male partner condom use and HIV infection risk exposure can help to avoid creating a rhetorical effect of superficial constructs of cultural changes that is controversial and disputable (Sovran, 2013).

The implications for positive social change for this study include gender-based interactions to promote gender equality in sexual negotiating encounters while supporting critical evidence-based need for gender-transformative HIV prevention efforts.

Summary

The HIV/AIDS pandemic disproportionately affects women, a population segment whose roles or status are marginalized in the social construct of the environment, and who are already shouldering the burden of raising families while maintaining the household. Although a shift has been made to integrate multi-strategic plans and approaches such as gender-based education interventions, a gap exists in the disproportionate rate of infection among women. MPIPV and risky sexual behavior in female partner within the context of the relationship must be examined further to determine if any confounding factor exist, and if it is associated with high risk of HIV among women in this region (CDC, 2014; Jones et al. 2013; Kaye 2004; Watts & Seeley, 2014). The knowledge gained from describing the relationship between women's demands for male condom use and MPIPV will facilitate understanding of confounding factors that influences risky sexual behavior and risk exposure to HIV infection.

Chapter 1 introduced the study which included the background of the problem, problem statement, purpose of the study, research question and hypotheses, theoretical framework, nature of the study, assumptions, delimitations, and limitations, definition of terms, and significance of the study. In Chapter 2, I present a review of current literature MPIPV and the HIV/AIDS infection rate that supported the study. In addition, I describe the theoretical foundation and present a review of key variables and concepts followed by the summary and conclusions.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

Introduction

Since the onset of the epidemic almost 30 years ago, an estimated 78 million people have been infected with HIV/AIDS, with the global HIV/AIDS related death estimated at 35 million (AVERT, n.d). Although the lower HIV infection rates have been reported in other parts of the world, no region of the world has a higher HIV/AIDS infection rate and the related public health burden than sub-Saharan Africa (AVERT, n.d).

Recent evidence suggests that prevalence may be starting to decline in some areas of sub-Saharan Africa, but out of the 3 million reported deaths from AIDS-related death that occurred in 2016, 2.2 million of these AIDS-related deaths were among sub-Saharan Africans, making it the leading cause of death in the region (Population Reference Bureau, 2016). Furthermore, an estimated at 25.5 million have been infected accounting for more than two thirds of the world's HIV infections (AVERT, n.d; Ramjee & Daniels, 2013). Even though sub-Saharan Africa is 11% of the world's population, it has 24% of the burden for HIV (International Finance Cooperation, 2017, para. 2).

Western and Central Africa which have a lower rate of infection still host 6.5 million of the estimated 25.5 million people living with HIV, with 310,000 AIDS related death (AVERT, n.d). Countries in such as Liberia, Nigeria, Cameroon, Chad, Côte d'Ivoire, Democratic Republic of the Congo, Ghana, Guinea and Mali are countries that are reportedly worst affected by the HIV/AIDS epidemic. Further, women in the sub-Saharan region are more severely impacted by HIV with incidence rates accounting for 59% of adults living with HIV (AVERT, n.d). Women and girls are especially vulnerable to HIV infection due to factors that include social, cultural and economic factors like social and economic inequality that contribute to the gender power imbalance and gender disparities (Sovran, 2013). The existing power imbalance between men and women and women's role, status, and subordinate position places them at a disadvantage with respect to their fundamental human right to control their own sexuality rendering women vulnerable to contracting HIV (Ramjee & Daniels, 2013). Additionally, the sub-Saharan region follows a patriarchal structure, which is oppressive to women and perpetuates discrimination against women, MPIPV, and forces women into high-risk sexual situations (Durevall & Lindskog, 2015; Shi, Kouyoumdjian, & Dushoff, 2013; Watts & Seeley, 2014).

The prevalence of HIV/AIDS infection among women in this region is changing the global perspective on traditional interventions to a strategic focus this is geared toward slowing the rate of new infections and stabilization among existing cases with the goal of reducing mortality rates (WHO, 2017). Changing the traditional interventions to a global perspective that targets at risk population such as high-risk exposure resulting from MPIPV is important. Because the HIV/AIDS prevalence rate is higher in urban areas than in rural areas in most of the sub-Saharan region, with the highest prevalence rates reported among the adult population, and specifically women (AVERT, n.d), developing prevention programs focusing on gender-based HIV risk exposure is important.
It is essential that knowledge of gender-based difference in risk exposure is addressed through health promotion activities requiring cooperation, collaboration, and a paradigm shift in allocation of resources relevant to the problem. Despite programs targeting women's health and promoting sexual decision-making capacity, traditional and cultural practices, and patriarchal attitudes continue to perpetuate discrimination against women, in turn forcing women into high-risk sexual encounters (AVERT, n.d).

This study addressed whether there is a relationship between female partner demands for condom use and MPIPV as well as, history of MPIPV and female partner decreased demands for male partner condom use. Additionally, I determined the relationship between the risk factors of age, education level, socioeconomic status (income) and women's demands for male partner condom use for women experiencing history of MPIPV in opposite sex cohabitating or married couples. By understanding how gender power imbalance influences and affects women passiveness and powerlessness in relation to sexual health making them more vulnerable to HIV/AIDS, public health policies and practitioners can create gender-based HIV/AIDS prevention education programs with specific focus on promoting MPIPV awareness to avoid continuing spread of HIV/AIDS (Watts & Seeley, 2014).

Chapter 2 includes a literature review of prior studies related to the epidemiology of HIV/AIDS infection in sub-Saharan Africa, HIV/AIDS infection among women in sub-Saharan Africa, and the disproportionate HIV/AIDS infection rate among women. The literature review also contains knowledge of risky sexual behavior among men and women, risky sexual behavior practices and any association with HIV infection risk exposure in heterosexual couples, the social construct of gender inequality, gender-based (male on female) violence, increase in female HIV vulnerability, effects of MPIPV, risky sexual behavior practices among women, and the public health consequences. The review emphasizes the HIV/AIDS statistics that support men and women attitudes on the differential of power, its association with women sexual negotiation power, the potential barrier of MPIPV on women sexual negotiating capacity, factors associated with MPIPV and risky sexual behavior, and knowledge, attitudes, perceptions towards women demands for safe sex barrier use.

Furthermore, I present an overview of the TPB that was used as the basis for this study, constructs that have been associated with HIV/AIDS risk exposure behaviors, and major themes in the literature that contributed to knowledge on gender-based strategies for HIV prevention based on risky sexual behavior practices. Lastly, I discuss the theoretical foundation that guided the survey instrument I used for data collection.

Literature Search Strategy

I conducted a systematic search of the literature using Google Scholar, ScienceDirect and Walden University databases. The review included the following Walden University databases: Academic Search Premier, Cochrane, Cumulative Index to Nursing and Allied Health Literature (CINAHL), MEDLINE, PubMed, and ProQuest. The key search terms used in the search were: *HIV incidence in sub-Saharan Africa, HIV prevention, HIV education in sub-Saharan Africa, spousal violence, intimate partner violence, gender, attitude, social norms, women's health, sexual negotiation, safe sex barrier, and theory of planned behavior*. To identify literature on HIV/AIDS infection rate among women in sub-Saharan Africa, risky sexual behavior among women, decision making capacity among women and intimate partner violence, I also applied the following keywords: *male perpetrated intimate partner violence, sexual negotiation, and HIV risk exposure among women*. The literature search was limited to studies published between 2012 and 2017 except for searches on the original theoretical foundation that provided older more robust review of the theory. The HIV/AIDS infection report in sub-Saharan Africa reflects the current statistics. As the literature search was aimed at analyzing the relationship between MPIPV and risky sexual behavior among women in heterosexual couples, I did not consider studies concerning exclusive implications of cultural beliefs on status of women.

Theoretical Foundation

The TPB is an extension or modification of Fishbein's and Ajzen 1975 theory of reasoned action. TPB was proposed by Ajzen in 1985 to study the prediction of behavior on individuals' intention in dealing with behavior over which people have incomplete volitional control (Ajzen, 1991). The theory focuses on the relationship between attitudes and behavior, incorporating social influences and personal factors as predictors that show behavior is the direct result of a behavioral intention, immediate determinants of behavior performance (Mtenga et al., 2015). TPB suggest that individual behavior is triggered by behavioral intentions, and an individual's behavior is determined by his or her intention to perform the behavior. TPB focuses on behavior intention that is reflective of the individual's attitude, normative beliefs, and control beliefs towards the behavior being

performed, a conscious plan or decision to exert effort to enact the behavior (Mtenga et al., 2012).

Given the premise of this theory, it was important to explore how attitude towards a specific behavior, subjective belief about the behavior, and perception about their environment affects an individual's ability to maintain control over situational occurrences requiring adjustments that may influence behavior. Exploring how the motivation of the individual is according to the contribution of the opinion of other people is significant to how knowledge on HIV risk exposures, risky sexual behavior practices, and gender intervention strategies are perceived. TPB has three conceptually independent components and the extent to which the components are important in shaping behavior varies according to situations and behavior intention.

The first of three core contentions of TPB explores the individual's attitude (behavior beliefs) toward the behavior. The contention asserts that attitude is influenced by the consequences of person's belief, given how positive or negative a person feels about performing a behavior (Ajzen, 1991). An example of this would be an individual attitude towards the use of condom (using a condom is pleasant or unpleasant). TPB posits that an individual's behavior is determined by the individual intention to perform the behavior. The intention becomes a function of the individual's attitude toward the behavior and their subjective norm, with the subjective norm being perceived social pressure that is experienced from the social setting to perform or not to perform the behavior (Ajzen, 1991). If an individual's behavior is triggered by behavioral intentions then the intention which is determined by the individual's attitude toward a specific behavior, subjective belief about the behavior, and perception about their environment is the first predictor of behavior. As such, the behavior intention represents a cognitive response that indicates readiness to engage in a given behavior. Therefore, intention is the immediate antecedent of behavior.

The second contention focuses on the subjective norm (normative beliefs) which is the individual's perception of the opinion of others and the control beliefs that lead to the perception. Although the first contention measures attitude towards the behavior to be performed, subjective norms, (i.e., the individual's beliefs about the opinion of others or how people they care about will view the behavior in question) is a key motivation to perform the behavior (Ajzen, 1991). Therefore, knowing the individual subjective norms and beliefs is as important as knowing the individual's attitude to predict behavior intentions.

The focal point of the third contention is that perceived behavioral control (control beliefs) influences behavior intentions. Perceived behavioral control refers to the individual perception of ability to perform the behavior which is a predictor to behavior intention (Ajzen, 1991). The relationship between the perceived impact of female demands for male partner condom use, risk for MPIPV, and factors that influence and prevent women's demands for male partner condom use is addressed in the research questions. These predictors such as demands for condom use and factors preventing said behavior performance will lead to behavior intention. A general rule is that the more favorable the attitude and the subjective norm, and the greater the perceived control, the person's intention to perform the behavior in will be stronger. Figure 1 is a schematic representation of the study variables and TPB constructs.



Figure 1: Graphic Model of TPB constructs; Adaptation of Ajzen TPB.

TPB has been used successfully in HIV preventive studies to understand behavior towards the use of condom to prevent AIDS or other sexually transmissible diseases, as well as other health promotion interventions (Eggers et.al, 2013; Semungus, Tafese, & Semella, 2016). For example, Eggers et.al (2013) examined attitudes, subjective norms, and perceived behavioral control by assessing the influence of individual, contextual factors, and social and environmental differences on predicting condom use, an important element in determining risk intervention strategies. The authors concluded that the use of TPB in developing strategic HIV prevention interventions such development and evaluation of condom is well founded. Ramjee and Daniels (2013) also concluded that given the multifactorial factors contributing to women's vulnerability to HIV infection in sub-Saharan Africa, programs addressing a combination of gender power dynamics and behavior change interventions are important in mitigating women's risk exposure.

The use of TPB in predicting and explaining health-related behaviors has also been justified in population health programs to include those focused on creating physical and mental health promotions/prevention programs (Javadi et.al, 2013; Russo et.al, 2015), studies on condom use and HIV testing and risk exposure knowledge (Kalolo, & Kibusi, 2015; Meadowbrooke, Veinot, Loveluck, Hickok, & Bauermeister, 2014), smoking cessation, and across a wide range of population (Najafi, Ardalan, Akbarisari, Noorbala, Elmi, 2017; Sun, Acheampong, Lin, & Pun, 2015).

Given that behavior modification and or change is a complex and difficult process to attain, the literature review demonstrated the appropriateness of TPB as a theoretical framework guiding the research and testing of the hypotheses regarding MPIPV against women and risky sexual behavior practices, that is, women's demands for condom use among cohabitating heterosexual or married couples in sub-Saharan Africa. The research questions built upon this existing theory in providing knowledge on understanding how the individual beliefs influenced by social pressure can be as important as knowing the individual attitude to predict the individual's intention.

Theory of Planned Behavior in HIV Studies

The TPB postulates that behavior is influenced not only by attitudes from the beliefs people hold, but also through an individual's ability to maintain control over situational occurrences. In general, people tend to form beliefs about an object by associating it with certain attributes, such as with other objects, characteristics or events, which can be related to the motivation to perform the behavior (Mtenga e al., 2015). This means that when an individual forms an attitude toward the behavior to be performed, the individual first makes an evaluation of the positive and negative consequences behind the specific behavior. The consequences then become the outcome on which the individual has linked all beliefs, which than requires adjustments that may influence behavior (Kalolo & Kibusi, 2015). Therefore, TPB constructs can help to predict how far attitude or behavioral beliefs toward women's demand for condom use, along with subjective norm or normative beliefs referring to the social pressure of gender equality, and perceived behavioral control or control beliefs, will influence the male partners' intention to indulge in the use of condom during sex. Several studies have discussed in detail HIV prevention and risk exposure based on TPB.

For instance, Eggers et al. (2016) studied the role of TBP in predicting condom use and intentions in three sub-Saharan African cities; Cape Town and Mankweng in South Africa, and Dar es Salaam, Tanzania. The TPB construct of intention was an important determinant of condom use for all three sites. Demographic variables such as socioeconomic status and condom use, being older and woman, and condom use were evident.

Additionally, Sacolo et al. (2013) studied the behavior intentions of Swazi inschool youths from four different schools between the ages of 15 and 19 years to engage in protective sexual behaviors (Sacolo et al., 2013). TPB posits that normative beliefs such as social pressures from culture, peer pressure, and other societal influences are all factors that can predict sexual behavior practices. Thus, the study aimed to test TPB for predicting factors associated with protective sexual behaviors, including sexual abstinence and condom use.

Sacolo et al. (2013) used eight different anonymous questionnaire instruments to obtain attitudes toward abstinence, attitude toward condom use, social pressure toward premarital abstinence, subjective norms of condom use, perceived behavioral control of abstinence, perceived behavioral control of condom use, and intentions to abstain from sexual intercourse. The scores for abstinence and condom use were significantly predicted by TPB constructs, especially so for premarital sex attitudes about abstinence which was the strongest as oppose to perceived abstinence controls which were the weakest predictors of abstinence intentions. Specifically, subjective norms followed by culture norms were the strongest predictors of intention to abstain. For intentions to use condoms, perceived controls were the strongest predictors, followed by subjective norms of condom use and attitudes. These results indicate the need for strategic or nontraditional gender-specific HIV educational interventions which should be targeted towards at risk population to address the sexual behavior of young people in sub-Saharan Africa (Sacolo et al., 2013).

Further, although the predictive ability of TPB has been shown to be effective and efficient in predicting health behavior based on a wide range of reviews, extending this theory beyond behavior intention to include other variables can help to further understand the extent of TPB predictability.

Turchik and Gidycz, (2012) explored an extension of TPB beyond its typical constructs' stability of behavior intention and actual behavior performance (condom use). The goal of the study was focused on predicting increase in sexual risk behavior when other variables or different risk behaviors such as past behavior, affective beliefs, personal norms, and moral beliefs were included. Given the impulsivity and complexity that often exists with unsafe sex involving another, the researchers sought to explore if personality or individual differences can affect a person's self-regulatory control during sexual encounter. Investigation into how control beliefs can lead to the perception that an individual has or does not have the capacity to perform the behavior have been conducted. However, the researchers were testing the extension of the theory in predicting sexual behavior and determine if the variables have direct effects on intentions and, or behavior by the "variables of casual sex engagement, condom use, contraception, and dual use compared to the TPB model" (p. 4). In the analysis, the anticipated effect of past behavior and moral beliefs successfully showed strong relationships with intention and behavior which are all significant determinants of behavior practices, that is, risky sexual practices (Turchik & Gidycz, 2012).

Nonetheless, the perceived behavior control variables of sexual excitation and or inhibition and sensation seeking were accounted for by the predictability of TPB construct and volitional control. The results showed that extending TPB constructs to include variables that have direct effect on intension and or behavior and mitigating understanding of any relationship in variables are beneficial to the implementation of HIV risk exposure, prevention and intervention programs. Although, TPB has its limitations when it comes to past experience of a same behavior and repetition of a behavior, it still remains to be the most widely used theory to predict individuals' intention and behavior, the primary objective of this research.

Theoretical Framework for the Sexual Relationship Power Scale (SRPS)

The SRPS was developed by Pulerwitz, Gortmaker and DeJong (2000) and is used to measure the concept of relationship control and decision-making dominance. It is used to also investigate the role of relationship power in sexual decision-making and HIV risk. The theories of gender and power and social exchange are the theoretical framework that guided the development of the SRPS.

The Gender and Power and Social Exchange Theories

The theory of gender and power postulates that gender-based inequities existing at the structural level between men and women are one of the most persistent patterns in the distribution of power and gender (Connell, 1987). The social norms of power imbalance contributing to the disparity in women's health outcomes results in substandard health outcomes (Connell, 1987). The theory of gender and power purports that gendered relationships between men and women are characterized by three overlapping, yet distinct structures; the sexual division of labor, the sexual division of power, and the structure of cathexis.

First, the sexual division of labor construct discerns the separate and discriminatory labor market with regards to gender inequities in training, wages and professional advancement, and the creation of women's and men's jobs in performing paid and unpaid work such as housework and childcare (Connell, 1987). Second, the

sexual division of power constructs focuses on the structural elements of societal authority that set forth a hierarchical system that not only differentiate women's role, but also exclude women from participation (Connell, 1987). The social norms of gender differences that contributes to interpersonal violence against women is also a focus of the sexual division of power. Hence, women who have been exposed to intimate partner violence are vulnerable and more likely to lack a sense of decision-making power contributing to sexual behavior practices that are risky (McMahon et al, 2015).

Finally, in the gender and power theory, the social structure of cathexis follows the dominant culture that perceives women as sexual symbols, hence influencing how a woman behaves (Connell, 1987). For example, if a woman's request for male partner condom use is perceived negatively or is interpreted as promiscuous behavior, the woman may not be as likely to use condom increasing her HIV exposure risk. Hence, the societal relations of gender and power dynamics to include gender order where men are advantaged, and women are disadvantaged places women in a vulnerable state as it relates to sexual decision-making and risky sexual behavior.

Like the gender and power theory, the social exchange theory attempts to explain human behavior within the conceptual framework of an exchange process between two people, emphasizing the cost and benefits interactions of people and their social environment (Cropanzano & Mitchell, 2005). The social exchange theory shows how relationship power depends on three variables: (a) the degree to which a person feels dependent on his or her partner, (b) the amount of resources available, and (c) any alternatives that exist outside of the relationship (Emerson, 1981). The social exchange theory postulates that relationship exchange between two people exists along the continuum of balanced-equal ratio within the distribution of giving and receiving. Essentially, a person makes the decision to stay or leave a relationship depending on their perception of the costs of being in the relationship over the profits made with each relationship interaction. With each interaction with the other person, the individual attempts to maximize the positive outcomes and minimize the negative ones based on costs-benefit analysis. The theory can be utilized to ascertain reasons for an uneven transaction between people and their environments especially in a study such as this one that focuses on the uneven transaction of female demands for male partner condom use and MPIPV.

The SRPS is grounded in the structures of the theory of gender and power and social exchange theory, making it a valid instrument to provide empirical evidence about relationship power and its influences in women's sexual decision-making in negotiating condom use. Even though the scale was originally developed for women, it can be administered to male participants with the appropriate modifications.

Interacting Theories: Theory of Planned Behavior, Gender and Power, and Social Exchange Theory

As discussed in the previous sections, the TPB, and both gender and power and the social exchange theories illuminate the concepts of the SRPS. These theories complement each other as their core foundational concepts cite environmental, personal, and behavior characteristics as the major factors in behavior determination, which plays a critical role in sexual decision making and the ability to influence another person's actions related to sexual behavior practice.



Figure 2: Interacting Theories of TPB, Gender and Power, and Social Exchange; Adaptation of Models of Behavior and Theories of Change

Even though the TPB emphasizes the role of intention in behavior performance as it relates to the amount of control the individual possesses and the strength of their behavior intention (Ajzen, 1991), gender and power focus on distribution of gender power as it relates to power strategies or power outcomes (Connell, 1987). Conversely, and social exchange theory focuses on relationship interaction that elicits approval or disapproval (Emerson, 1981). With an estimated 25.5 million people with HIV/AIDS in sub-Saharan Africa in 2015 and 40% of new HIV infections occurring in the age group 15 to 24 years, targeted intervention and prevention programs are essential in reversing the epidemic.

Although an extensive number of HIV interventions and prevention programs have been developed, implemented, and evaluated over the past decades adding to increased knowledge, positive attitudes, and willingness to change, far-reaching changes in sexual behavior have not materialized. Strategic planning guided by a theoretical foundation is said to be an essential component of successful health promotion interventions (Kalolo & Kibusi, 2015).

Literature Review Related to Key Variables

AIDS-related illnesses remain the leading cause of death among women of reproductive age (15–49 years) globally, and they are the second leading cause of death for young women aged 15–24 years in Africa (Foundations for AIDS Research, 2017). The socio-economic impact of the HIV/AIDS infection in this region is enormous with children becoming orphans due to one or both parents having the virus and dying from complications related to the disease.

In some regions, women who are exposed to intimate partner violence are 50% more likely to acquire HIV than women who are not exposed (Foundations for AIDS Research, 2017), making this crisis one that will require a fundamental shift and a multidimensional approach to reducing women risk exposure rates. Hence, comprehensive knowledge on HIV/AIDS, in conjunction with attitudinal and behavior changes to gender-based male on female violence are key variables that must be integrated into alternative interventions promoting this fundamental shift in behavior norms.

Knowledge, Attitude, and Perception: Male Condom Use in sub-Saharan Africa

The spreading of HIV/AIDS in sub-Saharan Africa has a gendered dimension with women being affected more than their male counterparts. Findings have shown that male condom use in sub-Saharan Africa is significantly low with gender power dynamics, beliefs, sexual norms, and attitudes about HIV condoms, gender inequality, stigma, fear, discrimination, political and socioeconomic strife posited as contributory factors to the disproportionate rate of infection among women (Remme et.al, 2014; Watts & Seeley, 2014). The gender dynamism and the associated gender disparity emanating from cultural norms, attitudes, and beliefs and the sexual abuse and exploitation of women creates a challenge in effectively reducing the alarming rates of HIV transmission (Remme et.al, 2014; Watts & Seeley, 2014).

Given the sub-Saharan trends in HIV infection demonstrating an overall increase in HIV prevalence among women, concerted and ongoing efforts are being designed to understand the importance of male knowledge about HIV/AIDS transmission. These efforts include condom use and attitude and perceptions of sexual practices in relation to HIV/AIDS and condom use among men in this region (Kharsany & Karim, 2016).

However, interventions to promote condom use are essential to slow the spread of HIV, yet not many studies have established linkages between lack of male condom use and normative beliefs, misconceptions, and attitudes surrounding usage (Maticka-Tyndale, 2012). In a HIV prevalent region with high levels of gender-based violence, sexual coercion, and HIV related stigma, Holtgrave, Qualls, Curran, Valdiserri, Guinan, and Parra, (1995) argued that successful HIV prevention messages must be design to target the needs of the audience which take into consideration confounding factors such as culture, values, beliefs, and norms.

Kharsany and Karim (2016) conducted a review focused on the epidemiology of HIV infection in sub-Saharan Africa and the continued high prevalence and strategies for optimizing limited resources for prevention activities. In the review, Kharsany and Karim (2016) identified the global and regional burden HIV infection has placed on the socioeconomic infrastructure, the AIDS related deaths with sub-Sahara Africa accounting for 74%, 1.5 million in 2013, and the gap in initiating targeted preventions specifically for women who are unable to negotiate the current HIV prevention strategies to include behavior change and condoms use in their relationships.

Although sub-Saharan Africa carries more than 65% of the global burden of infection (AVERT n.d; WHO 2017), the researchers identified several strategies of focus. These interventional strategies include a thorough understanding of the nature of HIV transmission or "knowing your epidemic" in sub-Saharan Africa and prioritizing interventions with focus on marginalized population with highest need of HIV transmission prevention such as women (Shi, Kuyoumdjian, & Dushoff, 2013; Delva & Abdool, 2014; Kharsany & Karim, 2016; Ramjee & Daniels, 2013; Stockman, Lucea, & Campbell, 2013). The findings from these reviews indicated a need for educational interventions to maximize utilization of existing cost-effective interventions such as condom use. Clearly, the task of preventing HIV infection is not simply one of providing more funds or more medicines. Apart from the economic resources that are needed for any HIV intervention program, it is imperative that innovative models of delivering interventions should focus on behavior changes, changes in beliefs, attitudes, and societal norms that marginalized women, and the effectiveness of male partner condom use negotiation.

The task of changing the beliefs of the any community is impossible without understanding a population cultural, beliefs, norms, attitudes, and perceptions that are deeply rooted in misconceptions that serve to discourage safe sexual behaviors such as male condom use. At such, the task of HIV prevention education should not be centered towards changing the traditional belief system, but instead to build the trust of the community by developing cultural competence and culturally sensitive teaching resources relevant to gaining understanding and an informed view of the targeted population, in this case, attitudes around condoms, norms that influenced intentions and actual condom use (Appiah, Tenkorang, & Maticka-Tyndale, 2017).

Using the TPB construct as the foundation for their study, Appiah, Tenkorang, and Maticka-Tyndale, (2017) explored reasons for the low condom usage by seeking to establish linkages between lack of use and normative beliefs and attitudes around condoms among 1453 sexually active high school youths. The authors report a direct relationship between male respondents' attitudes and condom use and an indirect relationship between these two variables for female respondents as described next. For the construct of intentions to use condom and higher perceived behavioral control, male and females' respondents who convey intentions to use condom with high perceived behavior control, were significantly more likely to report consistent usage, while consistent use of condoms was significantly higher for males who had friends that used condoms. Although these findings reinforce the importance of examining attitudes towards HIV/AIDS infection, perceptions of condom use, and misconceptions towards condom use, they were specific to youth in Kenya and exploring factors that serves to discourage safe sexual practices.

Liberia HIV/AIDS Overview: Identified Gap in Knowledge, Attitude, and Behavior

The Liberian Demographic Health Survey (2013), reported that out of a total population of approximately 3.5 million, an estimated 20,120 Liberians (adults and children) are living with the virus with one of the main routes of HIV transmission is heterosexual contact. While awareness of HIVAIDS is practically universal in Liberia with ninety-seven percent of women and ninety-six percent of men aged 15-49 have heard of AIDS, comprehensive knowledge about HIV/AIDS to include behavior modification, condom usage, and limiting the number of sexual partners is low (Liberian Demographic Health Survey, 2013).

Even though the bulk of HIV/AIDS prevention interventions focus strategies and efforts on condom use, abstinence, limiting number of sexual partners or monogamous relationship, and abstinence, only 37% of women and 34% of men have comprehensive knowledge on the use of condoms and monogamous uninfected partner reducing the risk of getting HIV, or that a healthy-looking person can have HIV. It is important that public health programs engage in a constant needs assessment and develop a consistent approach to progress with rapid adoption of new, proven resources and interventions that are certain to address the critical gap in comprehensive knowledge on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS, 2017). Research findings have demonstrated a relationship between risky sexual behavior among women in sub-Saharan Africa and the disproportionate

HIV/AIDS infection rate among women, with MPIPV as contributory factor to sexual behavior decision-making ability. Hence, a critical part of a comprehensive approach to disseminating HIV/AIDS knowledge is making certain that young people are engaged in behavior and relational-based knowledge, strategies and interventions that are not only accurate, but will present a realistic approach to improving their perceptions from low to high HIV risk.

Gender-Based Violence: Male Perpetrated Intimate Partner Violence and Negotiating Condom Use among Women

According to WHO (2017), the correct and accurate use of condoms are highly effective in HIV sexually transmitted infections (STIs) prevention with scientific evidence showing that male latex condoms have an 80% or greater protective effect against the sexual transmission of HIV and other STIs. This is important knowledge to emphasize especially in high-prevalence settings where young women remain at an unacceptable high and heightened risk of HIV infection. Even though condom usage is a key component of a comprehensive HIV prevention program and prevention of the sexual transmission of HIV and other STIs, a combination of approach to include consistency in usage, having one faithful sexual partner, testing, counseling and other strategies are equally important to prevention and intervention.

An important part of ensuring consistency in condom usage is women having the ability to safely negotiate condom use or request for male partner condom use without the threat of intimate partner violence. There is a large body of literature that purports that the violence and the fear of violence aim at women hinders the sexual decision-making ability of women to insist on safe sex barrier use and negotiating use of condoms (CDC, 2014; Jones et al. 2013; Kaye 2004; UNAIDS, 2017; Watts & Seeley, 2014; Wingood, & DiClemente, 1997; WHO, 2014).

UNAIDS reports that women who are subjected to intimate partner violence are also associated with weakened adherence to pre and post exposure HIV treatment and are, on average 1.5 times more likely to acquire HIV in some regions, linking this to overall poor clinical outcomes. Therefore, developing global standards and supporting countries to promote condom procurement and usage is a great vision but may not necessarily target the reality of male perpetrated intimate partner violence against women regarding negotiating condom usage. As part of a multidimensional approach to HIV/AIDS risk reduction in sub-Saharan Africa, investing in global health policies, legal reforms standards, and social intervention strategies such as gender-based relational training in a safe environment are all measures that are crucial to supporting and eliminating the violence against women and girls.

The Social Determinants of Male Perpetrated Intimate Partner Violence: Barrier to Women's Demands for Male Partner Condom and HIV

Women carry a disproportionate burden of the HIV infection rate in sub-Saharan Africa and findings have shown that women's vulnerability is a major factor in the incidence and prevalence of HIV/AIDS (Beksinska, Smit, & Mantell, 2012; Dunkle et al. 2004; Stockman, Lucea, & Campbell, 2013). Multiple factors such as gender inequity, MPIPV, and socioeconomic status of disenfranchised women frequently plays a substantial role in increasing women's HIV transmission risk exposure particularly among women in low socioeconomic status. The HIV/AIDS epidemic in sub-Saharan Africa is aggravated by the socioeconomic inequalities between men and women, particularly MPIPV.

Numerous studies have linked intimate partner violence with increased risk of exposure to unsafe sexual practice and risk for HIV transmission (Beksinska, Smit, & Mantell, 2012; Dunkle et al. 2004; Stockman, Lucea, & Campbell, 2013). Women and girls commonly are frequently exposed to socioeconomic degradation resulting in their dependence on the men, sexual violence, and limiting their ability to engage in condom use negotiation (Beksinska, Smit, & Mantell, 2012). The gender-based stratification is a contributory factor that places women in a position of vulnerability and are at risk for HIV infection.

Dunkle et al. (2004) studied the role of gender-based violence as a risk factor for HIV after adjustment for women's own high-risk behaviors in a cross-sectional study among 1366 women presenting for antenatal care at four health centers in Soweto, South Africa. Using the South African adaptation of the SRPS and risk behaviors questionnaires, the researchers determined that MPIPV and high levels of male control in a woman's current relationship as measured by the SRPS were associated with a positive HIV serostatus. The findings further demonstrated that women with violent or controlling male partners are at increased risk of HIV infection. However, these findings indicated that the increased concerns of intimate partner violence were not associated with child sexual assault, adult sexual assault by non-partners, and sexual debut or forced first intercourse. In this study, male perpetrators of intimate partner were more likely to have HIV and forced risky sexual practices on their partners to include preventing the ability of condom use negotiation. Even though the effects MPIPV on HIV risk exposure have been studied, more research is needed to elucidate relationship between women's demands for male partner condom use and MPIPV impacting condom use negotiation.

Summary and Conclusions

HIV/AIDS is clearly affecting the most active, social, and economically population in many regions of the world to include Liberia. This study was not only significant, but relevant and timely given the focus on reducing the barriers to women's ability to safely engage in request for male partner condom use without fear of MPIPV. This literature review presented an overview of the TPB, data on the epidemiology of HIV/AIDS infection in sub-Saharan Africa, HIV/AIDS infection among women in sub-Saharan Africa, the heightened rate of HIV/AIDS infection rate among women, and knowledge of risky sexual behavior amongst men and women, risky sexual behavior practices. The review further demonstrated the social construct of gender inequality, gender-based (male on female) violence, increase in female HIV vulnerability, effects of MPIPV, risky sexual behavior practices among men and women, and the socio-economic consequences. Even though there is basic knowledge and most young adults have "heard" about HIV/AIDS in Liberia, many are lacking in comprehensive knowledge(Liberian Demographic Health Survey, 2013).

The literature review revealed that harmful masculine gender norms are detrimental to women and can also jeopardize risk prevention strategies. Several studies have established that an important part of developing a comprehensive approach to acquiring knowledge is ensuring that young people are empowered in engaging these risk prevention gender-based strategies. However, these are limited studies focused on determining the relationship between female negotiating condom use and MPIPV.

The findings from this study contributed to knowledge on the relationship between female demands for male partner condom use and risk for MPIPV, and the relationship between the risk factors of age, education level, socioeconomic status and women's demands for male partner condom use in women experiencing history of MPIPV in heterosexual cohabitating or married couples. Chapter 3 detailed the research design and methodology. The discussion included a description of the target population, sampling, participants' recruitment, instrumentation, and threats to validity. A detailed analysis of the research design, procedures, statistical analysis and coding was described in this chapter. Chapter 3 concluded with discussion of the ethical procedures I undertook to ensure ethical protection of the participants.

Chapter 3: Research Method

Introduction

The power imbalance between men and women in sub-Saharan Africa includes women's roles, status, and subordinate position, which places them at a disadvantage to control their own sexuality and renders women vulnerable to contracting HIV (Ramjee & Daniels, 2013). The gender power imbalance in this region perpetuates discrimination against women, and MPIPV has been shown to be a contributing factor to women engaging in high-risk sexual situations (Durevall & Lindskog, 2015; Shi, Kouyoumdjian, & Dushoff, 2013; Watts & Seeley, 2014).

The purpose of this quantitative correlational study was to describe the relationship between women's demands for male partner condom use and MPIPV and factors (age, education level, socioeconomic status) that influenced and/or prevented women's demands for male partner condom use for the woman experiencing history of MPIPV in opposite sex cohabitating or married couples. In this chapter, I present a discussion of the research design and rationale for choosing the quantitative methodology and correlational design, a description of the target population, sampling procedures, participants' recruitment, instrument, threats to validity, and discussion of the ethical procedures I undertook to ensure ethical treatment of the participants.

Research Design and Rationale

Study Variables

The study was a quantitative, correlational study that was conducted to determine whether a relationship exists between female partner demands for condom use and MPIPV as well as the relationship between the risk factors of age, education level, socioeconomic status and women's demands for male partner condom use for women experiencing history of MPIPV in cohabitating or married opposite sex couples. I selected the quantitative correlational design because it is used to show a correlation and strength (how well the two variables align) of the relationship among the variables (Field, 2015; Frankfort-Nachmias, Nachmias, & Dewaard 2015). This research method aligned with describing the relationship or association between women's demand for male partner condom use and MPIVP, the primary focus of this research. Further, this method allows for testing theoretical objectives by examining the relationships among the variables through the supporting data and refuting if the data did not support the hypotheses (Creswell, 2009). The correlational design also assured a higher level of objectivity needed to advance knowledge in determining relationships between variables. This design type was also appropriate in consideration of practicality and feasibility of the study, given the logistical constraints such as time, fiscal impact, availability of the participants, and other resources.

Other quantitative designs such as interventional or quasi-experimental studies were deemed not appropriate for this research as these designs were not the most useful to meet the objective and the elements of a correlational study for three main reasons.

First, quantitative exploratory interventional study would have required that exposures and outcomes are observed and measured simultaneously in the sample population to examine for any associations. Second, a quasi-experimental design requires a larger sample size, which may have been difficult to accomplish given the sensitive nature of discussions surrounding sexual behavior practices and HIV transmission rates in this population. Third, the objective of the study, which was focused on determining relationships between the variables, did not fit that of a quasi-experimental study that is focused on determining causality that is, cause and effect between the variables (Houser, 2015).

With the correlation design, three research questions guided the study, and I examined three pairs of hypotheses to answer the research questions;

RQ1: What is the relationship between women's demands for male partner condom use to risk for MPIPV that is, does a relationship exist between female partner demands for condom use and risk for MPIPV in heterosexual cohabitating or married couples in West Africa?

 H_01 : There is no relationship between women's demands for male partner condom use to risk for MPIPV in heterosexual cohabitating or married couples West Africa.

 H_11 : There is a relationship between women's demands for male partner condom use to risk for MPIPV in heterosexual cohabitating or married couples West Africa.

RQ2: What is the relationship between history of MPIPV to female partner decreased demands for male partner condom use in heterosexual cohabitating or married couples in West Africa?

 H_02 : There is no relationship between history of MPIPV to female partner decreased demands for male partner condom use in heterosexual cohabitating or married couples in West Africa.

 H_12 : There is relationship between history of MPIPV to female partner decreased demands for male partner condom use in heterosexual cohabitating or married couples in West Africa.

RQ3: What is the relationship between the risk factors of age, education level, socioeconomic status (income) to women's demands for male partner condom use in women experiencing MPIPV in heterosexual cohabitating or married couples in West Africa?

 H_03 : There is no relationship between the risk factors of age, education level, socioeconomic status (income) to women's demands for male partner condom use in women experiencing MPIPV in heterosexual cohabitating or married couples in West Africa.

 H_13 : There is a relationship between the risk factors of age, education level, socioeconomic status (income) to women's demands for male partner condom use in women experiencing MPIPV in heterosexual cohabitating or married couples in West Africa.

The predictor variables were women's demands for male partner condom use and history of MPIPV. The outcome variables were risk for MPIPV and female partner decreased demands for male partner condom use, which had been reported to be a contributing factor to the disproportionate rate of infection among women, supporting the selection of the outcomes variables. The covariates were age, education level, and socioeconomic status (employment).

A quantitative correlation study was consistent with determining if there is a correlation or relationship between two or more variables and the strength of the relationship (Frankfort-Nachmias & Nachmias, 2015; Field, 2015), which allowed me to show a relationship between the predictor and outcome variables and to measure the strength of a relationship between variables. I explored if female demands for male partner condom use served as a risk for MPIPV and risky sexual behavior (no use of condom) as well as, factors influencing the potential relationship between female partner demands for condom use and MPIPV. Furthermore, the study was focused on the statistical correlation and descriptive analysis among the variables, and I sought to describe any relationship and determining factors that influenced women's demands for male partner condom use in the woman experiencing history of MPIPV. I used a regression analysis to statistically analyze, identify, and describe the degree of dependence whether positively same directional change, or negatively opposite directional change existing between the variables. The goal was to determine if there was a relationship with women's demand for male partner condom use to initial MPIPV or if women's demand for male partner condom use correlates with increase MPIPV where there was established history of MPIPV.

The lack of strategic governmental social and public health policies and nongovernmental programs targeting areas like MPIPV will result in HIV/AIDS continuing to spread at an alarming rate which will have a devastating impact on all aspects of the society (Watts & Seeley, 2014). Developing comprehensive knowledge and understanding of gender power imbalance and influences of women passiveness and powerlessness in relation to sexual health may potentially make them more vulnerable to HIV/AIDS is crucial to developing public health gender-based policies (Watts & Seeley, 2014).

Furthermore, these public health gender-based policies and practitioner interventions should be aligned with creating gender-based HIV/AIDS prevention education programs with specific focus on promoting MPIPV awareness (Watts & Seeley, 2014). Developing programs that protect women's rights, promote empowerment, educate women and men about MPIPV and sexual autonomy will require proactive women-rights policies supported by public health stakeholders which may help planning for future public health interventions.

Methodology

Population: Prevalence of HIV/AIDS in Women and Men in Liberia

The target population were women residing in West Africa between the ages of 18-35 who were involved in a heterosexual co-habitating or marital relationship. The HIV&AIDS Response Progress Report (2016) reported that the West African country of Liberia documented an increase in HIV prevalence between 2007 -2013 in the population aged 15-49 despite available prevention resources. According to this report, HIV prevalence in this general population age range of 15-49 in Liberia increased from 1.5% to 2.1% with a high HIV prevalence in urban areas at 2.6 percent and particularly higher in the main capital city of Monrovia (3.2%) than in rural areas (0.8%). A disproportionate rate of HIV prevalence exists among women 2.4% (increased from 1.8% in 2007) which is significantly higher than in men 1.9% (increased from 1.2% in 2007;

Liberian Demographic Health Survey, 2013). The report further stated that 1% of young people aged 15-24 are infected with HIV, with a prevalence infection rate of 1.4 % among women aged 15-24 compared to 0.5 % for men, with 55% of women and men who are infected with HIV not having been previously tested or have been tested but have not received the result.

Participants for this study were recruited using the Internet and online social media platforms advertisement with specific inclusion criteria to include residing capital city and suburbs of the Liberia. Participants from highly populated city environment and other risky suburbs may have different experiences compare to those in the mostly protected or secured suburbs. This selection allowed for diversity in the convenient sampling. Participant recruitment were strictly voluntary and consisted of approximately 352 women. Qualification for participation in this study included meeting the inclusion criteria.

Sampling and Sampling Procedures

Women between the ages of 18-35 involved in a heterosexual co-habitating or marital relationship were the identified target group. I used a nonprobability purposive sampling technique for participants' selection. This sampling technique was important because the participants were residents of Liberia and were available and willing to participate.

Although I used a nonprobability purposive sampling, participants were required to meet the inclusion criteria. Inclusion and exclusion criteria determined eligibility to participate in the study. I recruited participants using online and social media advertisement with the listed inclusion criteria: women between the ages of 18-35, residing in Liberia, ability to read and write English, have access to the Internet, ability to complete the online surveys, and willingness to sign the informed consent. Exclusion criteria included women who were out of the stated age range of 18-35, non-residents of Liberia, inability to read and write English, no access to the Internet, inability to independently complete an online survey, and inability to complete the informed consent.

A power analysis was conducted to determine the sample size (Faul, Erdfelder, Buchner, & Lang, 2013). The sample size was calculated using G*Power software which produced an a priori power analysis of the required sample size. I conducted a G* power analysis employing a small effect size $/\rho/=.20$ (f=0.20), an alpha value of α -level=0.05, and statistical power (1- β err prob) =0.95 for multiple regression models which required a minimum sample size of 314 participants. Thus, a sample of approximately 314 women who residents of Liberia were needed for this study. Frankfort-Nachmias and Nachmias (2015) asserted that participants in their natural setting giving the sample size of 314 in my study, can be generalized to the larger population with a design strategy that mitigates external validity, which aligns with the focus of this study.

Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection

Before collecting any data from the participants, I followed the following procedural steps for recruitment, participation, and data collection. I presented my proposal to Walden University Institutional Review Board (IRB) for review and approval to proceed. The proposal included recruitment materials such as electronic Facebook notification and flyer postings, and permission to use survey questionnaire. After

obtaining proposal permission from Walden University (IRB approval # 05-16-19-0452981), I submitted my research proposal application to obtain permission from the University of Liberia IRB. The Department of Research and Ethics at the University of Liberia (UL-PIRE) was the primary government entity responsible for reviewing and granting permission for research to be completed in Liberia. The procedure in submitting research protocols to the UL-PIRE IRB for ethics review included a submission of the following documents to the Director of Research: Letter of Application, Copy of the Proposal, Informed Consent and or Assent Forms, Sample Survey Questions, Curriculum Vita of the Investigator(s), and Protocol Budget. All submissions to the UL-PIRE included the e-copies of all the required documents along with eight hard copies. After obtaining approval from Walden University and University of Liberia IRBs, I recruited participants via the Internet and online social media platforms such as Facebook. Information about the study including the purpose of the study, assuring confidentiality, requesting participation, and data collection process as well as the survey questionnaire (see Appendix B) link were posted on the flyer.

Data collection took place using a SurveyMonkey administered survey. Given time constraints and the need to facilitate ease of collecting data collection, the Internet helps with finding a large convenience sample and is relatively associated with low cost and speed with data collection (Hays, Liu, & Kapteyn, 2015). Furthermore, the online format allowed participants to complete the questionnaires at their convenience with minimal inconvenience promoting efficient data collection. All sections of the online informed consent and survey questionnaires remained anonymous and had directions for completion. Introduction and directions for completing the informed consent,

socioeconomic (see Appendix A) questionnaire, duration of the survey, and accurate completion of the questionnaires were presented upon arriving on the research website Several questions were used to screen participants to ensure that each met the inclusion criteria. Examples of inclusion criteria screening questions included and were not limited to the following:

- 1. How old are you?
- 2. Are you currently residing in Liberia?
- 3. Are you currently in a monogamous heterosexual relationship such as married or living with your male partner as a couple?
- 4. What is the highest level of school you completed?

If the individual met the criteria and clicked on the survey link, the online informed consent was presented to participants upon accessing the survey link. This allowed participants to proceed to the questionnaires only after completion and submission of the informed consent section by clicking "I consent." Completion of the consent portion was a prerequisite to proceeding to the self-report demographic questionnaires. If they did not wish to participate in the survey, they were instructed to decline participation by clicking on the " I do not consent" button and exit the survey. Participants who consented were directed to proceed to the socio-economic self-report questionnaire. Self-reported information on the participants' age, education level, and socioeconomic status (employment) were collected on the sociodemographic questionnaire. The participants had approximately 15 minutes to complete the informed consent, sociodemographic section, and questionnaires. Participants were prompted to proceed to the next phase of the survey after completion of the demographic section.

There was a debriefing section immediately after the last question on the survey. Participants were prompted to proceed to the debriefing section. In this section, participants were thanked for participation and similar information about the purpose of the study as in the beginning were provided. Information about other resources such as local Health and Community Services was provided. Participants were reminded to print a copy of the debriefing section for their records. Participants were given the option to stop at any time and click on exit if they decided to not participate. Participants will be prompted to exit the website once they complete all the questionnaires and debriefing section.

Instrumentation and Operationalization of Constructs

I used the SRPS (Pulerwitz, Gortmaker & DeJong, 2000) to measure participants' perceptions of MPIPV initiated by female partner demand of male partner condom use where there is no previous history of MPIPV. Self-reported sociodemographic questionnaire were used to measure the control variables of age, education level, socioeconomic status, and history of MPIPV. The SRPS (Pulerwitz, Gortmaker & DeJong, 2000) aligned with this study objectives and was used to collect data. Permission to use the SRPS tool was granted by the author for the purpose of this research and the agreement to reference appropriately and share the results of the study upon completion (see Appendix C).

The SRPS was important as it measured women power in intimate sexual relationship as it relates to the role of relationship power in sexual decision-making (Pulerwitz et al., 2000). Given the importance of examining sexual relationship power as one of the predictors for sexual decision making, implicit in decision making behaviors such as negotiating condom use between heterosexual partners, it was important for this study to understand the relationship between sexual relationship power and unsafe sexual behaviors (McMahon, Volpe, Klostermann, Trabold, & Xue, 2015).

The lack of sexual decision-making negotiating power has been identified as a contributory factor in unsafe sexual behaviors in heterosexual couples in this population (McMahon et al. 2015). Pulerwitz, Gortmaker and DeJong (2000) developed the SRPS to measure this important concept of relationship control and decision-making dominance and to investigate the role of relationship power in sexual decision-making and HIV risk. The SRPS has been consistently used to examine relationship power in research with couples. It has been translated into at least eleven languages and used in research with a diverse population of women and modified for use with men.

The SRPS was initially developed with 62 initial items in five domains; (a) decision-making dominance, (b) relationship control, (c) distribution of economic and emotional resources, (d) alternatives to the relationship, and (e) dependence on the relationship (Pulerwitz, Gortmaker, & DeJong, 2000). The types of behavior or outcomes predicted from using the SRPS to measure power with sexual relationship include sexual and physical violence, intimate partner violence, and condom use and partner infidelity.
The final model of the SRPS consists of 23 items and divided between two subscales; (a) constructs of relationship power Relationship Control Subscale (RCS) and (b) relationship dominance and decision-making Decision Making Dominance Subscale (DMDS), with questions as it relates to commitment to the relationship, condom negotiation ability, and freedom of action within the relationship (Pulerwitz et al., 2000). The SRPS was originally tested for its validity and reliability to a census of primarily Latina other minority women to collect data related to the participants' perception of relationship power.

Pulerwitz, Gortmaker, and DeJong (2000) reported that the SRPS had a reversed association with physical violence and was directly associated with education and consistent condom use (p < .05). The SRPS possesses good internal reliability and with an overall Cronbach's $\alpha = 0.84$ [English version] and $\alpha=0.88$ [Spanish version] and predictive and construct validity (Pulerwitz, Gortmaker, & DeJong, 2000). The two subscales have distinct response sets and good internal consistency with RCS (fifteen items, $\alpha=0.85$ [English version] and $\alpha=0.89$ [Spanish version]) and the DMDS (eight items, $\alpha=0.63$ [English version] and $\alpha=0.60$ [Spanish version]), with good to fair internal consistency for both subscales (Pulerwitz et al., 2000). Factor analyses were completed to support two subscales of RCS and DMDS.

The RCS used a four point-Likert scale (1=strongly agree, 2=agree, 3=disagree, and 4=strongly disagree) to measure the level of agreement on item statements. An example of a question is "Most of the time, we do what my partner wants to do," "if I asked my partner to use a condom, he would get violent," if I asked my partner to use a

condom, he would get angry." Asking such questions discern the woman's perception about the partner's behavior towards condom use, how much the male partner controls what the woman does, and MPIPV related to request for condom use.

The DMDS was constructed to measure the balance of decision-making power on different topics in their daily lives and has the participant select between (1=Your partner has more power; 2=Both of you have equal power; 3=You have more power) on each of the eight items, with higher scores indicating higher relationship power for the respondent (Pulerwitz et al., 2000). Given the fact that the two subscales have distinct response sets, Pulerwitz, Gortmaker, and DeJong (2000) posit that the two subscales can be administered separately or together depending on the aim of the research and or a modified version of the original scale can be used. In the modified sexual relationship power scale (SRPS-M) four items related to condom use were removed (items 1, 2 and 8 in the RCS subscale and item 22 in the DMDS) and can be used for research not pertaining to direct condom usage. In addition, the SRPS-M was tested and was shown to be associated with consistent condom use (Pulerwitz, Amaro, DeJong, Gortmaker, & Rudd, 2002; Pulerwitz et al., 2000).

Data Analysis

Upon completion of the survey questionnaires, the SurveyMonkey data were downloaded and automatically saved and available with a password-protected access. Additional safety measure included data storage on my external hard drive stored in my safe deposit location. Descriptive statistics were used to determine relationships between the sociodemographic factors and dependent variable, and I used multiple linear regression analysis because it can model the relationships between several independent variables and a dependent variable. Using intellectus statistics software, data collected from the sociodemographic questionnaires and the SRPS instrument were presented using two types of statistical analysis, namely descriptive analysis and analysis of the covariates of age, education level, socioeconomic status, and history of MPIPV. I used components of descriptive statistics to describe findings on the measures of central tendencies, standard deviation, frequencies and percentages of participants' demographic characteristics of age, education level, socioeconomic status, and history of MPIPV. This analysis was used to show the relationship between the socio-demographic findings of the participants and the outcome variable in the study.

The predictor variables for this study were women's demands for male partner condom use and history of MPIPV. The outcome variables were risk for MPIPV and female partner decreased demands for male partner condom use. Multiple linear regression analysis was appropriate for this study and was performed because the analysis included multiple predictor variables (Chen, Li, Wu, & Liang, 2014). Multiple regression analysis allowed for the mediating variable (women's demands for condom use) to be measured on a 4-point Likert scale. Additionally, multiple linear regression provided the opportunity to assess a continuous outcome variable from a number of predictor variables helping to predict the dependent or criterion variable after controlling the previous variables (Frankfort-Nachmias & Nachmias, 2008). I used the following statistical analysis listed below to assess each research question and to examine the relationships between predictor and outcome variables.

Research Questions and Hypotheses

RSQ1:

What is the relationship between women's demands for male partner condom use to risk for MPIPV, that is, if relationship exists between female partner demands for condom use and risk for MPIPV in heterosexual cohabitating or married couples in West Africa?

H0: There is no relationship between women's demands for male partner condom use to risk for MPIPV in heterosexual cohabitating or married couples West Africa.

H1: There is a relationship between women's demands for male partner condom use to risk for MPIPV in heterosexual cohabitating or married couples West Africa.

I conducted a multiple linear regression to assess and determine the strength of a relationship between the variables of women's demands for male partner condom use to risk for MPIPV.

RSQ2:

What is the relationship between history of MPIPV to female partner decreased demand for male partner condom use in heterosexual cohabitating or married couples in West Africa?

H0: There is no relationship between history of MPIPV to female partner decreased demands for male partner condom use in heterosexual cohabitating or married couples in West Africa. H1: There is relationship between history of MPIPV to female partner decreased demands for male partner condom use in heterosexual cohabitating or married couples in West Africa.

I used a multiple linear regression to assess and determine the strength of a relationship between the variables of history of MPIPV to female partner decreased demands for male partner condom, while controlling the covariates of age, educational level, socioeconomic status, and history of MPIPV.

RSQ3

What is the relationship between the risk factors of age, education level, socioeconomic status (income), and history of MPIPV to women's demands for male partner condom use in women experiencing MPIPV in heterosexual cohabitating or married couples in West Africa?

H0: There is no relationship between the risk factors of age, education level, socioeconomic status (income), and history of MPIPV to women's demands for male partner condom use in women experiencing MPIPV in heterosexual cohabitating or married couples in West Africa.

H1: There is a relationship between the risk factors of age, education level, socioeconomic status (income), and history of MPIPV to women's demands for male partner condom use in women experiencing MPIPV in heterosexual cohabitating or married couples in West Africa.

For this research question, I used multiple linear regressions to assess and determine the strength of a relationship between the variables of age, education level,

socioeconomic status (income), to history of MPIPV to women's demands for male partner condom use.

Data screening and cleaning procedure were used to eliminate participants who are likely to exhibit insufficient data response. I reported the results of the study before and after employing data screening and cleaning techniques. Data screening and cleaning procedures included, not allowing participant to proceed to questionnaire if inform consent is decline, not examining responses of participants who do not fit into the inclusion criteria, removal of such dataset, removal of incomplete responses to questionnaires, and removal of outliers.

Threats to Validity

Validity in a study refers to the study measuring the intended concept if replication of the study using the same measuring instrument produces the same results (Frankfort-Nachmias & Nachmias, 2008; Kimberlin & Winterstein, 2008; & Drost, 2012). There is wide range of potential threats to external and internal validity that a research study can suffer based on the research design which must be addressed in the study. Nonetheless, achieving credibility in research and ensuring strength and validity is gained requires accurate measurement of the subject being measured which is achieved by ensuring that translation of the research objectives into specific questions occurs (Frankfort-Nachmias, Nachmias, & DeWaard, 2015). Therefore, instrumentation selection is an important step toward making accurate measurements that will provide validity of quantitative studies (Frankfort-Nachmias, Nachmias, & DeWaard, 2015).

Threats to External Validity

External validity is a crucial requirement in quantitative research. External validity refers to the extent to which the results of a study can be generalized to people (Frankfort-Nachmias, Nachmias, & DeWaard, 2015). That is, how representative is the sample of the population, other settings (ecological), population, or characteristics other than those used in the study (Frankfort-Nachmias, Nachmias, & DeWaard, 2015). It is the extent to which the outcomes of a research can be generalized to other situations and to other individuals. In this instance, population, time, and environmental validity were the three main threats that were applicable to this research.

The nonprobability purposive sampling technique was used as this was the best sampling technique for this study. The nature of nonprobability purposive sampling made it not a representation of the entire population for this target population and at such, inadvertently excluded a great proportion of the population. Hence, nonprobability purposive sampling had limitations in generalization and inference making about the entire population which made this a threat to external validity. There was a threat to generalizability because the study focused on a sample of the population and the voluntary nature of participation may have influenced how they responded during the survey process. Because participants volunteered to take part in this study for specific purposes (e.g., personal reasons) which may have influenced how they responded during the survey process, this reduced homogeneity of the characteristics between my sample and the population this study was interested in. As a result, the study's findings cannot be generalized to an entire population. To reduce threat to generalizability, the size of the sample (314), target age range of the participant population (women ages of 18-35), geographical location, and other inclusion criteria were control measures employed to make sure the sample represented the targeted population. Furthermore, the time of day when participants had access to the online survey website and access environment to include accessing the online survey portal via smart phones, tablets, and computers, and the ability to decide the order of the questionnaire completion was another measured used to reduce threats to external validity.

Threats to Internal Validity

Internal validity refers to the accuracy to which results, and inferences are attributed to the independent variable and can measure cause and effect (Frankfort-Nachmias, Nachmias, & DeWaard, 2015). This study was a quantitative correlational design and there was no manipulation of the variables, no administration of treatment to research participants, and was focused on determining relationships between the two variables, as opposed to explaining or predicting outcomes. The noteworthy threats to internal validity in this study were selection bias and instrumentation design to accurately measure study objectives and length of the questionnaire resulting in potential response fatigue during the survey.

This correlational design was meant to determine relationship and not cause and effect. There were no administration of treatment and no difference in behavior attributed to statistical control or manipulation or administration of treatment. To reduce threats of selection bias, I used multiple linear regression analysis to control for group differences such as age, education level, socioeconomic status, and history of MPIPV to minimize selection as a threat and ensuring for similarity as much as possible for a homogeneous population. To mitigate threat to internal validity related to instrumentation, the 23 item SRPS is an established questionnaire that has been used in multiple studies to measure female – male power construct and male partner condom use in sexual relationships ensuring for construct validity. This questionnaire was administered via online SurveyMonkey in a single session. Therefore, risks to internal validity were minimal as compare to other experimental designs (Chambliss & Schutt, 2016; Schalock, Gomez, Verdugo, & Claes, 2017).

Ethical Procedures

Ethics and ethical procedures that protects the participants is an essential part of any research study. The researcher must ensure that informed consent is provided by the participants, there is no harm done to the participant, and there is respect for participant anonymity, confidentiality, and privacy (Fouka & Mantzorou, 2011). Walden University has established ethical standards that guided the study and ensured that the research complied with these ethical standards which included completion of the application and request for IRB review and approval before collection of any data (IRB # 05-16-19-0452981). I completed all training required by the IRB for human research study. I ensured that informed consent was explained and that participants demonstrated understanding of procedures such as withdrawal from the study if they chose to. Participants were informed that this was a completely anonymous process to maintain participants' identity and there were no contacts made to participants. Data collected from the survey were password protected and stored on an external hard drive in a fireproof safe repository and will be destroyed after as per research standards.

Summary

In Chapter 3, I provided a discussion on key points to include the research methodology and rationale for this quantitative correlational research design with a description of sampling procedures, sampling size, participants' recruitment, survey design, instrument, data analysis plan, and threats to validity. The purpose of this study was to examine whether there was a relationship between MPIPV and women demands for condom use between married or cohabitating heterosexual couples in Liberia. Furthermore, I described how this study provided the data needed to show a relationship between MPIPV and female demands for condom use. I described the ethical procedures taken to ensure ethical treatment of the participants in this chapter. I presented the research findings in Chapter 4.

Chapter 4: Results

Introduction

Women in the sub-Saharan region are more severely impacted with a high HIV prevalence and incidence rates accounting for 59% of adults living with HIV (AVERT, n.d). The literature has consistently shown that women and girls are especially vulnerable to HIV infection due to social, cultural, and economic inequality contributing to the gender power imbalance and gender disparities (Sovran, 2013). These factors have been shown to impact women's decision making ability to control their own sexuality, rendering women particularly vulnerable to MPIPV and in turn forcing women into highrisk sexual situations and exposure to contracting HIV (Durevall & Lindskog, 2015; Shi, Kouyoumdjian, & Dushoff, 2013; Ramjee & Daniels, 2013; Watts & Seeley, 2014).

The purpose of this quantitative correlational study was to determine whether there was a relationship between female partner demands for condom use and MPIPV, whether history of MPIPV had a relationship to female partner decreased demands for male partner condom, and to determine the relationship between the risk factors of age, education level, socioeconomic status (employment) and women's demands for male partner condom use in women experiencing history of MPIPV in opposite sex cohabitating or married couples.

I explored three research questions related to the relationship between women's demands for male partner condom use and risk for MPIPV, the relationship between history of MPIPV and female partner decreased demands for male partner condom use, and the relationship between the risk factors of age, education level, socioeconomic status (employment) and women's demands for male partner condom use in heterosexual cohabitating or married couples in West Africa.

In this chapter, the data collected are presented and important findings of descriptive statistics and regression analysis are discussed to determine whether a relationship exists between the following: (a) demands for male partner condom use and risk for MPIPV, (b) history of MPIPV and demands for male partner condom use, and (c) demands of male partner condom use when controlling for the demographic variables of history of MPIPV, age, education level and employment. This chapter contains a full discussion of the data collection and analysis, research tool used, presentation of the respondents' demographic details, and actual recruitment and response rates. In addition, the chapter presents a discussion of descriptive statistical test results, frequency tables, regression analysis, and assumptions in relation to the research questions and hypotheses.

Data Collection

Women meeting the research eligibility requirements were invited to participate in this study about MPIPV related to women demands for male partner condom use. Participants were recruited via the Internet over a 3-month period (April 2019 – July 2019) using social media for advertisement. The Internet advertisement contained information about the study and the listed eligibility screening question requirements with directions to access the survey link. Data collection took place using a SurveyMonkey administered survey. All the participants were recruited via the Internet and social media platforms, which may affect the generalizability of the results from this study. The inclusion criteria contained screening questions focused on: (a) ability to complete online survey in English, (b) if participant is a heterosexual woman between the ages of 18-35, (c) married or in a co-habitating relationship with male partner, (d) living with a husband or male partner, (e) and is a resident of Liberia. The participants consisted of women meeting the inclusion criteria. A planned sample size of 314 was used to measure the effect of the predictors on women demands for male partner condom use. I conducted a G* power analysis employing a small effect size $/\rho/=.20$ (f=0.20), an alpha value of α -level=0.05, and statistical power (1- β err prob) =0.95 for multiple regression models requiring a minimum sample size of 314 participants. A nonprobability purposive homogeneous sampling data collection technique was used from the targeted population members who were available to participate in the study.

A total of 352 participants consented to and responded to the study, and I ultimately used the data from 352 participants. When participants accessed the survey link, they were presented with the survey which was organized to begin with the consent form. The consent form outlined the terms, conditions, and statement of consent of the survey, requiring interested participants to read and either volunteer or decline the invitation to participate in the study. The SurveyMonkey link led to the informed consent, demographic questionnaire, and the survey instrument. Only participants who clicked the "agree" button on the consent form had access to the demographic questionnaire. Additionally, participants joined the survey voluntarily and implied consent by participating in the survey after reading the screening questions and the informed consent document which accompanied the survey material distributed by SurveyMonkey. This included information on the study purpose and procedures, role of the researcher and participants, and the directions for participants to withdraw from the study. The participants had the option to withdraw from the survey at any time during the survey. After the participants read the informed consent and agreed to participate, they were prompted to proceed to the self-report demographic questionnaire used to collect participants' age, educational level, socioeconomic status (employment), and history of MPIPV.

Upon completion of the demographic questions, participants were prompted to proceed to the next phase of the study survey instrument consisting of 23 questions. Participants were prompted to click a "finish" button which revealed debriefing information. The study participants received no reimbursement for participation.

Participants were recruited using the Internet as a research tool and not from an organizational setting, as the Internet is an efficient and cost-effective tool for recruiting a large number of participants (Hays, Liu, & Kapteyn, 2015). Using the Internet was helpful with finding a large convenience sample at no cost and within the timeframe of 3 months of data collection. This study was not affected by difficulties obtaining a representative sample, limitations collecting data online, low response rate, or problems with technology. Using women who met the inclusion criteria of ability to complete online survey in English, between the ages of 18-35, married or in a co-habitating relationship with male partner, living with a husband or male partner, and residing in the geographic location as participants, provided a wide and diverse set of characteristics and cultural norms. Additionally, the participants were familiar and competent users of the Internet and were representative of the desired population.

Research Tool

I used the SRPS to measure the concept of power in relationship control and decision-making dominance as it related to exploring the relationship between female demands for condom use and MPIPV. The SRPS possesses good internal reliability and with an overall Cronbach's $\alpha = 0.84$ and predictive and construct validity (Pulerwitz et al., 2000). The two subscales have distinct response sets with the 15 item RCS (α =0.85) and the eight item DMDS ($\alpha = 0.63$) with good to fair internal consistency for both subscales (Pulerwitz, Gortmaker, & DeJong, 2000). The 23-item scale comprises two subscales: constructs of relationship power in the RCS and relationship dominance and decision-making in the DMDS. Questions in the survey instrument aligned with commitment to the relationship, ability to negotiate condom use, and decision-making capacity within the relationship. Each of the 15 items in the RCS subscale were scored on a 4-point Likert scale, with 1 =strongly agree, 2 =agree, 3 =disagree, and 4 =strongly disagree. Each of the eight items in the DMDS subscale were constructed and scored to measure the balance of decision-making power on different topics with participants selecting between "your partner has more power," "both of you have equal power," and "you have more power" with higher scores indicating higher relationship power for the participant. Some items were reverse scored if high scores reflected low sexual relationship power for the participant.

Data screening was conducted on the full sample prior to analyses to determine a final sample size. The data were checked, and 39 participants were removed for not completing the survey questionnaire. Therefore, the final analysis was conducted on a

sample size of 313 participants. A reliability analysis was conducted on the scales using the Cronbach's alpha statistics and the analyses were checked for outliers. Descriptive statistics were performed to determine trends in the demographic characteristics including frequencies and percentages. Mean and standard deviations were calculated for the RCS and DMDS subscales. Finally, the research questions were answered using linear regression before using the data in the analysis, and several diagnostic checks and tests were conducted to determine the statistical distribution of the variables.

Reliability. The reliability test, which is concerned with whether a scale indicates that it is free from random error, was conducted prior to analyses. The reliability of a measure indicates the extent to which it is without bias in ensuring consistent measurement across time and various items in the instruments. The reliability of the scales instrument used in this study was tested through the Cronbach's alpha coefficient test. Cronbach's alpha indicates whether survey questions are internally consistent. Cronbach's alpha coefficient for each variable was used to measure the internal consistency of the scales adopted in the survey. The reliability test results of the two subscales used in my data analysis are presented in Tables 1 and 2. Cronbach's alpha coefficient was calculated for the DMDS subscale used to measure demands for condom use, consisting of DMDS1 = "Who usually has more say about whether you use condoms," DMDS2 = "Who usually has more say about whose friends to go out with," DMDS3 = "Who usually has more say about whether you have sex," DMDS4 = "Who usually has more say about what you do together," DMDS5 = "Who usually has more say about how often you see one another," DMDS6 = "Who usually has more say about when you talk about serious things," DMDS7 = "Who usually has more say about what types of sexual acts you do," and DMDS8 = "In general, who do you think has more power in your relationship." The Cronbach's alpha coefficient was evaluated using the guidelines suggested by George and Mallery (2016) where $\alpha > .9$ excellent, > .8 good, > .7acceptable, > .6 questionable, > .5 poor, and $\leq .5$ unacceptable. The items for DMDS had a Cronbach's alpha coefficient of 0.64, indicating good internal consistency that is consistent with the Cronbach alpha reported by the developers. All items on the DMDS were used and none deleted to assess for increase in result with individual items potentially contributing to reliability. Table 1 presents the results of the reliability analysis for DMDS.

Table 1

Cronbach Reliability Statistics for DMDS (Demands)

Scalo	No. of Itoms	~ ~ ~ ~	Lower Dound	Linnar Dound		
Scale	INO. OI Itemis	u				
DMDS	8	0.64	0.58	0.70		
<i>Note</i> . The lower a interval.	and upper bounds of Cro	onbach's α w	ere calculated using a 95.	00% confidence		
Cronbach's alpl	na coefficient was also	o calculated	for the RCS overall sca	le, consisting of		
15 items RCS1	=" If I asked my partr	ner to use a	condom, he would get v	violent," RCS2 =		
"If I asked my p	partner to use a condo	m, he would	d get angry," RCS3 = "N	Most of the time,		
we do what my partner wants to do," RCS4 = "My partner won't let me wear certain						
things," RCS5 =	= "When my partner a	nd I are tog	ether, I'm pretty quiet,"	RCS6 = "my		
partner has mor	e say than I do about i	important d	ecisions that affect us,"	RCS7 = "My		
partner tells me	who I can spend time	with," RCS	58 = "If I asked my part	ner to use a		
condom, he wo	uld think I'm having s	ex with oth	er people," RCS9 = "I f	eel trapped or		

stuck in our relationship," RCS10 = "My partner does what he wants, even if I do not want him to," RCS11 = "I am more committed to our relationship than my partner is," RCS12 = "When my partner and I disagree, he gets his way most of the time," RCS13 ="my partner gets more out of our relationship than I do," RCS14 = "My partner always wants to know where I am," and RCS15 = "My partner might be having sex with someone else." The Cronbach's alpha coefficient was evaluated using the guidelines suggested by George and Mallery (2016) where > .9 excellent, > .8 good, > .7 acceptable, > .6 questionable, > .5 poor, and \leq .5 unacceptable. The items for RCS overall had a Cronbach's alpha coefficient of 0.66, indicating marginal internal consistency. Table 2 presents the results of the reliability analysis.

Table 2

Cronbach Reliability Statistics for RCS Overall

Scale	No. of Items	α	Lower Bound	Upper Bound
RCF overall	15	0.66	0.61	0.72

Note. The lower and upper bounds of Cronbach's α were calculated using a 95.00% confidence interval.

For my study, I split the RCS into two subscales with four out 15 items focused on calculating risk for MPIPV in RQ1, and 11 out 15 items calculating for history of MPIPV in RQ2. Cronbach's alpha coefficient was calculated for risk of MPIPV scale using four out 15 items to measure respondent's ability to assert personal desires and, in this case, demands for condom use. The four question items aligned with the risk for MPIPV category indicating that violence had not occurred, and the potential likelihood of intimate partner violence occurring pertaining to female demands for male partner condom use. Additionally, Cronbach's alpha coefficient was calculated for history of MPIPV scale using 11 out 15 items to measure a lack of empowerment and relationship control in respondent's ability to assert demands for male partner condom use with established history of MPIPV, that is, where intimate partner violence had occurred. To measure risk for MPIPV, Cronbach's alpha coefficient was calculated using four out 11 items on the RCS subscale consisting of RCS2 = "If I asked my partner to use a condom, he would get angry," RCS3 = "Most of the time, we do what my partner wants to do," RCS5 = "When my partner and I are together, I'm pretty quiet," and RCS8 = "If I asked my partner to use a condom, he would think I'm having sex with other people." The items for risk for MPIPV had a Cronbach's alpha coefficient of 0.45, indicating unacceptable reliability. Not observing high reliability with this measure is to be expected since a part of the scale with selected items from the RCS were used to measure a form of risk for MPIPV and others for measuring history of MPIPV. Table 3 presents the results of the reliability analysis for risk for MPIPV.

Table 3

Cronbach's Reliability Statistics for Risk

Scale	No. of Items	α	Lower Bound	Upper Bound
Risk	4	0.45	0.35	0.55

Note. The lower and upper bounds of Cronbach's α were calculated using a 95.00% confidence interval.

Cronbach's alpha coefficient was also calculated for history of MPIPV using 11 out of 15 items in the RCS consisting of RCS1 = "If I asked my partner to use a condom, he would get angry," RCS4 = "My partner won't let me wear certain things," RCS6 = "My partner has more say than I do about important decisions that affect us," RCS7 = "My partner

tells me who I can spend time with," RCS9 = "I feel trapped or stuck in our relationship," RCS10 = "My partner does what he wants, even if I do not want him to," RCS11 = "I am more committed to our relationship than my partner is," RCS12 = "When my partner and I disagree, he gets his way most of the time," <math>RCS13 = "My partner gets more out of our relationship than I do," RCS14 = "My partner always wants to know where I am," and RCS15 = "My partner might be having sex with someone else." The items for history of MPIPV had a Cronbach's alpha coefficient of 0.54, indicating poor reliability. Not observing high reliability with this measure is to be expected because a part of the scale with selected items from the RCS were used to measure a history of MPIPV and others for measuring a form of risk for MPIPV. Table 4 presents the results of the reliability analysis history of MPIPV.

Table 4

Cronbach's Reliability Statistics for History of MPIPV

Scale	No. of Items	α	Lower Bound	Upper Bound
History	11	0.54	0.47	0.62

Note. The lower and upper bounds of Cronbach's α were calculated using a 95.00% confidence interval.

Univariate outliers were examined using composite scores for the following variables, female demands for male partner condom use, risk for MPIPV, and history of MPIPV. An outlier was defined as any value which falls outside the range of +/- 3.29 standard deviations from the mean (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2013). There were no outliers present in demands for condom use and risk for MPIPV, one present in history of MPIPV(history_r.outliers), and participant 229 showed a higher score on history than the rest of the respondents. Narrative indicator of the outlier version removed is reported as history of MPIPV in further tables. Table 5 presents the number of outliers in each variable.

Table 5

Number of outliers detected for Demands, Risk, and History

Variable	No. of Outliers
Demands	0
Risk	0
History	1

Results

Descriptive Statistics

This section presents the descriptive statistics of the demographic characteristics used in exploring the relationship between the demographic covariates of age, education level, socioeconomic status (employment), and history of MPIPV. Descriptive statistics were obtained including frequencies, percentages, means and standard deviations of the scales. As part of the inclusion criteria, all participants were required to be heterosexual women between the ages of 18-35, residing in Liberia, married or in a co-habitating relationship, and living with the husband or male partner. Age was collected in the following categories; under 20, 21-25, 26-30, and 31-35. The most frequently indicated categories of age, education (high school diploma), and socioeconomic status (self-employed), are presented in the frequencies and percentages results in Table 6.

Table 6

Frequency Table for Nominal (age, employment) and Ordinal (education) Variables

Variable	n	%
Age		

		82
Under 20	65	20.77
21-25	133	42.49
26-30	72	23.00
31-35	43	13.74
Missing	0	0
Education		
Less than high school	57	18.21
High school diploma	118	37.70
Trade technical or vocational	83	26.52
Some college	38	12.14
College graduate	17	5.43
Missing	0	0
Employed		
Employed full time	41	13.10
Employed part time	69	22.04
Self-employed full time	98	31.31
Self-employed part time	63	20.13
Unemployed	42	13.42
Missing	0	0

Note. Due to rounding errors, percentages may not equal 100%.

The frequencies and percentages were calculated for MPIPV violent act (VA) based on the participants selection indicating that they have been somehow insulted, belittled, threatened verbally, scared, or made to feel bad, pulled, punched, thrown, choked, burned, and other. Table 7 shows that most of the respondents had exposure to varying forms of MPIPV.

Table 7

Frequency Table for Nominal Variables (Violent Acts)

Variable	n	%
Insult		
Yes	73	23.32
Missing	240	76.68
Belittle		

		83
Yes	66	21.09
Missing	247	78.91
Scare		
Yes	70	22.36
Missing	243	77.64
Pulled		
Yes	50	15.97
Missing	263	84.03
Punched		
Yes	17	5.43
Missing	296	94.57
Thrown		
Yes	16	5.11
Missing	297	94.89
Choked		
Yes	10	3.19
Missing	303	96.81
Burned		
Yes	10	3.19
Missing	303	96.81
Other		
Yes	4	1.28
Missing	309	98.72

Note. Due to rounding errors, percentages may not equal 100%.

Statistics Table for Variables

The normality of the sample is construed from the values of the Skewness and Kurtosis tests. According to Sekaran (2003), values that fall within the range of -2 to +2 for the Skewness test, and -3 to +3 for the Kurtosis test are considered within the normal range . When the skewness is greater than 2 in absolute value, the variable is considered to be asymmetrical about its mean. Conversely, when the kurtosis is greater than or equal to 3, then the variable's distribution is markedly different than a normal distribution in its

tendency to produce outliers (Westfall & Henning, 2013). The summary statistics were calculated for women demands for male partner condom use, risk for and history of MPIPV (history r.outliers). Demands were measured using the DMDS items on a 1-3 scale with 1 = "Your partner," 2 = "Both of you," and 3 = "You." This related to decision making aspect about who had more "say" in the relationship with higher scores on demands for male partner condom use indicating respondent had more "say" in the decision-making in the relationship, and lower scores indicating male partner had more "say" in the decision-making. History of and risk for MPIPV were measure on a 1-4 scale, where 1 = "Strongly agree," 2 = "Agree," 3 = "Disagree," and 4 = "Strongly disagree." The results for women demands for male partner condom use had an average of 1.67, indicating that on average the respondents indicated that their male partners had more power and "say" in the decision-making in the relationship. The results for history of MPIPV had an average of 2.47 indicating that on average respondents indicated greater history of MPIPV tendencies. The results for risk for MPIPV had an average of 2.52 indicating that on average respondents indicated greater risk for MPIPV tendencies. Mean and standard deviation of resilience among the variables indicated that relationship existed between female partner demands for condom use, history of MPIPV, and risk for MPIPV. Details of the summary statistics are presented in Table 8.

Table 8

Summary Statistics Table for Interval and Ratio Variables

Variable	М	SD	п	Min	Max	Skewness	Kurtosis
Demands	1.67	0.30	312	1.00	2.38	-0.75	0.06
History of MPIPV	2.47	0.41	311	1.18	3.82	0.10	0.42
Risk	2.52	0.63	313	1.00	4.00	-0.07	-0.30

Note. '-' denotes the sample size is too small to calculate statistic.

Research Question 1

What is the relationship between women's demands for male partner condom use to risk for MPIPV, that is, if relationship exists between female partner demands for condom use and risk for MPIPV in heterosexual cohabitating or married couples in West Africa?

 H_01 : There is no relationship between women's demands for male partner condom use to risk for MPIPV in heterosexual cohabitating or married couples West Africa.

 $H_1 I$: There is a relationship between women's demands for male partner condom use to risk for MPIPV in heterosexual cohabitating or married couples West Africa.

To address research question one, I conducted a multiple linear regression on constructs of the DMDS to determine whether a relationship existed between women demands for male partner condom use (predictor variable) to risk for MPIPV (outcome variable). A multiple linear regression analysis was conducted using the individual DMDS items to assess whether DMDS1, DMDS2, DMDS3, DMDS4, DMD5, DMDS6, DMDS7, and DMDS8 selected as individual item predictors had a significant relationship to risk for MPIPV. The assumptions of normality and homoscedasticity were conducted as presented in the tables. In addition, multicollinearity using variance inflation factor were conducted to ensure that the multiple predictor variables were not highly related to each other.

Assumptions. The assumption of normality was assessed by plotting the quantiles of the model residuals against the quantiles of a Chi-square distribution, also called a Q-

Q scatterplot (DeCarlo, 1997). For the assumption of normality to be met, the quantiles of the residuals must not strongly deviate from the theoretical quantiles. Strong deviations could indicate that the parameter estimates are unreliable. From the Q-Q scatterplot all the points are positioned in a reasonably diagonal line from left to top right and showed that there is no indication of a major deviation from normality. The assumption was met as data followed the normality line as indicated in Figure 3 which presents a Q-Q scatterplot of the model residuals.



Figure 3. Q-Q Scatterplot for Normality of the Residuals for the Regression Model between demands for condom use and risk for MPIPV

Homoscedasticity. The assumption of homoscedasticity was evaluated by plotting the residuals against the predicted values (Bates et al., 2014; Field, 2013; Osborne & Walters, 2002). The assumption of homoscedasticity is met if the points

appear randomly distributed with a mean of zero and no apparent curvature. The assumption was met because the data were randomly distributed in a rectangular form with a mean of zero, and there was no distinguishable pattern and no apparent curvature which indicates this study meets the assumption of homoscedasticity. Figure 4 presents a scatterplot of predicted values and model residuals which indicates this study meets the assumption of homoscedasticity.



Figure 4. Residuals scatterplot testing homoscedasticity between demands for condom use and risk for MPIPV

Multicollinearity. Variance Inflation Factors (VIFs) were calculated to detect the presence of multicollinearity or correlation between predictors (independent variables). High VIFs indicate increased effects of multicollinearity in the model indicating less reliable regression results. VIFs greater than 5 are cause for concern, whereas VIFs of 10 should be considered the maximum upper limit (Menard, 2009). All predictors in the regression model have VIFs less than 10 indicating decrease effects of multicollinearity in the model which indicates more reliable regression results. Table 9 presents the VIF for each predictor in the model.

Table 9

Variance Inflation Factors for Demands Scale Items DMDS1, DMDS2, DMDS3, DMDS4, DMDS5, DMDS6, DMDS7, and DMDS8

Variable	VIF
DMDS1	1.18
DMDS2	1.21
DMDS3	1.17
DMDS4	1.09
DMDS5	1.15
DMDS6	1.12
DMDS7	1.27
DMDS8	1.25

Outliers. To identify influential points or outliers, studentized residuals were calculated by dividing the model residuals by the estimated residual standard deviation and the absolute values were plotted against the observation numbers (Field, 2013; Stevens, 2009). An observation with a studentized residual greater than 3.12 in absolute value, the 0.999 quartile of a *t* distribution with 311 degrees of freedom, was considered to have significant influence on the results of the model. Figure 5 presents the studentized residuals plot of the observations. Observation numbers are specified next to each point with a studentized residual greater than 3.12.



Figure 5. Studentized residuals plot for outlier detection

Autocorrelation. A Durbin-Watson test was conducted to assess the degree of autocorrelation among the residuals. The result was significant, DW = 1.44, p < .001 which suggests the results may be influenced by autocorrelation among residuals. For this study, all observations were independent of each other and one might expect participants from nested or nearby geographic and regional locations to provide more similar answers to each other than people who are more geographically distant. Thus, autocorrelation can occur if observations are dependent in aspects such as geographic location other than time.

Results. The results of the multiple linear regression model were significant, F(8,303) = 6.52, p < .001, R2 = 0.15, indicating that approximately 15% of the variance in risk is explainable by DMDS items used to measure risk for MPIPV: DMDS1-8. Both DMDS 1 and DMDS 5 were significant predictors of risk. DMDS1 "Who usually has more say about whether you use condoms," significantly predicted risk for MPIPV, which suggests that women demands for male partner condom use significantly predicted risk for MPIPV. This indicates that on average, a one-unit increase of DMDS1 will increase the value of risk for MPIPV by 0.28 units. DMDS5 "Who usually has more say about how often you see one another," significantly predicted risk for MPIPV, which indicates that on average, a one-unit increase of DMDS5 will increase the value of risk for MPIPV by 0.19 units. DMDS2, DMDS4 as well as DMDS 6-8 did not significantly predict risk for MPIPV. Overall, there was a positive relationship between the predictor variable, women demands for male partner condom use and the outcome variable, risk for MPIPV demonstrating that demands for condom use significantly predicted risk for MPIPV. Conversely, the positive coefficient indicated that as respondents tended to feel that they had more "say" in decision-making, their risk for violence was lower. Hence, the null hypothesis was rejected meaning that there was a significant relationship between women's demands for male partner condom use to risk for MPIPV in heterosexual cohabitating or married couples in West Africa. Table 10 summarizes the results of the regression model.

Table 10

Results for Linear Regression with Demands Scale Items DMDS1, DMDS2, DMDS3, DMDS4, DMDS5, DMDS6, DMDS7, and DMDS8 Predicting Risk for MPIPV

Variable	В	SE	CI	β	t	р
(Intercept)	1.34	0.19	[0.97, 1.72]	0.00	7.05	<.001
DMDS1	0.28	0.07	[0.14, 0.42]	0.23	3.98	<.001

DMDS2	0.14	0.07	[-0.00, 0.27]	0.11	1.94	.053
DMDS3	0.04	0.06	[-0.08, 0.17]	0.04	0.69	.489
DMDS4	0.11	0.06	[-0.01, 0.24]	0.10	1.79	.074
DMDS5	0.19	0.06	[0.07, 0.31]	0.17	3.04	.003
DMDS6	-0.06	0.06	[-0.17, 0.05]	-0.06	-1.13	.259
DMDS7	0.01	0.06	[-0.11, 0.14]	0.01	0.22	.823
DMDS8	-0.04	0.07	[-0.17, 0.09]	-0.04	-0.61	.540

Note. CI is at the 95% confidence level. Results: F(8,303) = 6.52, p < .001, $R^2 = 0.15$ Unstandardized Regression Equation: Risk = 1.34 + 0.28*DMDS1 + 0.14*DMDS2 + 0.04*DMDS3 + 0.11*DMDS4 + 0.19*DMDS5 - 0.06*DMDS6 + 0.01*DMDS7 - 0.04*DMDS8

Research Question 2

What is the relationship between history of MPIPV to female partner decreased demands for male partner condom use in heterosexual cohabitating or married couples in West Africa?

 H_02 : There is no relationship between history of MPIPV to female partner decreased demands for male partner condom use in heterosexual cohabitating or married couples in West Africa.

 H_12 : There is relationship between history of MPIPV to female partner decreased demands for male partner condom use in heterosexual cohabitating or married couples in West Africa.

To address research question two, a multiple linear regression analysis was conducted to assess whether history of MPIPV (predictor) using the RCS selected items, RCS1, RCS4, RCS6, RCS7, RCS9, RC10, RCS11, RCS12, RCS13, RCS14, and RCS15 significantly predicted women demands for male partner condom use (outcome). The assumptions of normality, homoscedasticity, and multicollinearity variance inflation factor were conducted as presented below. Assumptions. The assumption of normality was assessed by plotting the quantiles of the model residuals against the quantiles of a Chi-square distribution, also called a Q-Q scatterplot (DeCarlo, 1997). For the assumption of normality to be met, the quantiles of the residuals must not strongly deviate from the theoretical quantiles. Strong deviations could indicate that the parameter estimates are unreliable. From the Q-Q scatterplot all the points are positioned in a reasonably diagonal line from left to top right and showed that there is no indication of a major deviation from normality. The assumption was met as data followed the normality line as indicated in Figure 6 which presents a Q-Q scatterplot of the model residuals.



Figure 6. Q-Q scatterplot for normality of the residuals for the regression model between history of MPIPV and women demands for male partner condom use.

Homoscedasticity. Homoscedasticity was evaluated by plotting the residuals against the predicted values (Bates et al., 2014; Field, 2013; Osborne & Walters, 2002). The assumption of homoscedasticity is met if the points appear randomly distributed with a mean of zero and no apparent curvature. Figure 7 presents a scatterplot of predicted values and model residuals which are randomly distributed with a mean of zero and no apparent curvature which indicates this study meets the assumption of homoscedasticity. Figure 7 presents a scatterplot of predicted values and model residuals between history of MPIPV and women demands for male partner condom use.



Figure 7. Residuals scatterplot testing homoscedasticity between history of MPIPV and women demands for male partner condom use.

Multicollinearity. VIFs were calculated to detect the presence of

multicollinearity between predictors. High VIFs indicate increased effects of

multicollinearity in the model. VIFs greater than 5 are cause for concern, whereas VIFs

of 10 should be considered the maximum upper limit (Menard, 2009). All predictors in

the regression model have VIFs less than 10 indicating decrease effects of

multicollinearity in the model which indicates more reliable regression results. Table 11

presents the VIF for each predictor in the model.

Table 11

Variable	VIF
RCS1	1.15
RCS4	1.07
RCS6	1.21
RCS7	1.14
RCS9	1.15
RCS10	1.18
RCS11	1.07
RCS12	1.12
RCS13	1.11
RCS14	1.24
RCS15	1.21

Variance Inflation Factors for RCS1, RCS4, RCS6, RCS7, RCS9, RCS10, RCS11, RCS12, RCS13, RCS14, and RCS15

Outliers. To identify influential points, studentized residuals were calculated and the absolute values were plotted against the observation numbers (Field, 2013; Stevens, 2009). Studentized residuals are calculated by dividing the model residuals by the estimated residual standard deviation. An observation with a studentized residual greater

than 3.12 in absolute value, the 0.999 quartile of a *t* distribution with 311 degrees of freedom, was considered to have significant influence on the results of the model. Figure 8 presents the Studentized residuals plot of the observations. Observation numbers are specified next to each point with a studentized residual greater than 3.12.



Figure 8. Studentized residuals plot for outlier detection

Autocorrelation. A Durbin-Watson test was conducted to assess the degree of autocorrelation among the residuals. The result was significant, DW = 1.17, p < .001, suggesting the results may be influenced by autocorrelation among residuals. As stated previously, one might expect participants from nearby geographic locations to provide more similar answers to each other than people who are more geographically distant.

Thus, autocorrelation can occur if observations are dependent in aspects such as geographic location other than time.

Results. The results of the linear regression model were significant, F(11,300) =10.26, p < .001, R2 = 0.27, indicating that approximately 27% of the variance in women demands for male partner condom use is explainable by history of MPIPV. This suggests that history of MPIPV significantly predicted demands for male partner condom use. RCS1, RCS9-13, and RCS15 did not significantly predict demands however, RCS6, RCS7, and RCS14 significantly predicted demands. RCS4 "My partner won't let me wear certain things," indicated that on average, a one-unit increase of RCS4 will increase the value of demands by 0.08 units. Additionally, RCS6 "My partner has more say than I do about important decisions that affect us" indicated that on average, a one-unit increase of RCS6 will increase the value of demands by 0.04 units. RCS7 "My partner tells me who I can spend time with" indicated that on average, a one-unit increase of RCS7 will increase the value of demands by 0.04 units. Finally, RCS14 "My partner always wants to know where I am," indicated that on average, a one-unit increase of RCS14 will increase the value of demands by 0.07 units. Overall, the regression analysis showed that there was a positive relationship between the history of MPIPV as the predictor variable and women decreased demands for male partner condom use demonstrating that history of MPIPV significantly predicted demands. Hence, the null hypothesis was rejected meaning that there was a significant relationship between history of MPIPV and women decreased demands for male partner condom use in heterosexual cohabitating or married couples in West Africa. Table 12 summarizes the results of the regression model.
Table 12

Variable	В	SE	CI	β	t	р
(Intercept)	1.09	0.09	[0.91, 1.28]	0.00	11.84	<.001
RCS1	0.02	0.02	[-0.01, 0.05]	0.06	1.18	.238
RCS4	0.08	0.01	[0.06, 0.11]	0.31	6.09	<.001
RCS6	0.04	0.02	[0.01, 0.07]	0.15	2.68	.008
RCS7	0.04	0.02	[0.00, 0.07]	0.11	2.18	.030
RCS9	0.00	0.02	[-0.03, 0.03]	0.01	0.16	.875
RCS10	0.00	0.02	[-0.03, 0.03]	0.01	0.19	.853
RCS11	-0.02	0.02	[-0.05, 0.01]	-0.07	-1.28	.202
RCS12	0.02	0.02	[-0.01, 0.05]	0.06	1.09	.279
RCS13	0.02	0.02	[-0.02, 0.05]	0.05	1.05	.296
RCS14	0.07	0.02	[0.04, 0.11]	0.21	3.91	<.001
RCS15	-0.02	0.02	[-0.05, 0.01]	-0.08	-1.39	.166

Results for Linear Regression with History of MPIPV Scale Items RCS1, RCS4, RCS6, RCS7, RCS9, RCS10, RCS11, RCS12, RCS13, RCS14, and RCS15 predicting Demands

Note. CI is at the 95% confidence level. Results: F(11,300) = 10.26, p < .001, $R^2 = 0.27$ Unstandardized Regression Equation: Demands = 1.09 + 0.02*RCS1 + 0.08*RCS4 + 0.04*RCS6 + 0.04*RCS7 + 0.00*RCS9 + 0.00*RCS10 - 0.02*RCS11 + 0.02*RCS12 + 0.02*RCS13 + 0.07*RCS14 - 0.02*RCS15

Research Question 3

What is the relationship between the risk factors of age, education level, socioeconomic status (employment) to women's demands for male partner condom use in women experiencing MPIPV in heterosexual cohabitating or married couples in West Africa?

 H_03 : There is no relationship between the risk factors of age, education level,

socioeconomic status (employment) to women's demands for male partner condom use in

women experiencing MPIPV in heterosexual cohabitating or married couples in West

Africa.

 H_13 : There is a relationship between the risk factors of age, education level,

socioeconomic status (employment) to women's demands for male partner condom use in

women experiencing MPIPV in heterosexual cohabitating or married couples in West Africa.

To address RQ3, a multiple linear regression analysis was conducted to assess whether history of MPIPV using the RCS items RCS1, RCS4, RCS6, RCS7, RCS9, RCS10, RCS11, RCS12, RCS13, RCS14, RCS15, age, education, and socioeconomic status (employment) significantly predicted women demands for male partner condom use. The assumptions of normality, homoscedasticity, and multicollinearity variance inflation factor were conducted as presented below.

Assumptions. The assumption of normality was assessed by plotting the quantiles of the model residuals against the quantiles of a Chi-square distribution, also called a Q-Q scatterplot (DeCarlo, 1997). For the assumption of normality to be met, the quantiles of the residuals must not strongly deviate from the theoretical quantiles. Strong deviations could indicate that the parameter estimates are unreliable. From the Q-Q scatterplot all the points are positioned in a reasonably diagonal line from left to top right and showed that there is no indication of a major deviation from normality. The assumption was met as data followed the normality line. Figure 9 presents a Q-Q scatterplot of the model residuals.





Homoscedasticity. Homoscedasticity was evaluated by plotting the residuals against the predicted values (Bates et al., 2014; Field, 2013; Osborne & Walters, 2002). The assumption of homoscedasticity is met if the points appear randomly distributed with a mean of zero and no apparent curvature. The assumption of homoscedasticity is met if the points appear randomly distributed with a mean of zero and no apparent curvature. The assumption was met because the data were randomly distributed with a mean of zero, and there was no distinguishable pattern and no apparent curvature which indicates this study meets the assumption of homoscedasticity. Figure 10 presents a scatterplot of predicted values and model residuals between the demographic variables of history of MPIPV, age, education, employment and women demands for male partner condom use.



Figure 10. Residuals scatterplot testing homoscedasticity between demographic variables and women demands for male partner condom use.

Multicollinearity. VIFs were calculated to detect the presence of

multicollinearity between predictors. High VIFs indicate increased effects of

multicollinearity in the model. VIFs greater than 5 are cause for concern, whereas VIFs

of 10 should be considered the maximum upper limit (Menard, 2009). All predictors in

the regression model have VIFs less than 10 indicating decrease effects of

multicollinearity in the model which indicates more reliable regression results Table 13

presents the VIF for each predictor in the model.

Table 13

Variable	VIF
RCS1	1.24
RCS4	1.13
RCS6	1.30

Variance Inflation Factors for RCS1, RCS4, RCS6, RCS7, RCS9, RCS10, RCS11, RCF12, RCS13, RCS14, RCS15, Age, Education, and Employed

	101
RCS7	1.24
RCS9	1.19
RCS10	1.22
RCS11	1.16
RCS12	1.15
RCS13	1.15
RCS14	1.27
RCS15	1.23
Age	1.24
Education	1.60
Socioeconomic status (employed)	1.64

101

Outliers. To identify influential points, studentized residuals were calculated and the absolute values were plotted against the observation numbers (Field, 2013; Stevens, 2009). Studentized residuals are calculated by dividing the model residuals by the estimated residual standard deviation. An observation with a studentized residual greater than 3.12 in absolute value, the 0.999 quartile of a *t* distribution with 311 degrees of freedom, was considered to have significant influence on the results of the model. Figure 11 presents the Studentized residuals plot of the observations. Observation numbers are specified next to each point with a studentized residual greater than 3.12. There were two outliers present in history of MPIPV, with a higher score on history than the rest of the respondents. Data from the outlier were included as removing two potential outliers would not have significantly affected the results from such a large dataset of over 300 participants.





Autocorrelation. A Durbin-Watson test was conducted to assess the degree of autocorrelation among the residuals. The result was significant, DW = 1.35, p < .001, suggesting the results may be influenced by autocorrelation among residuals. This is concurrent with results generated from research participants from nearby geographic locations who potentially may provide more similar answers to each other than people who are more geographically distant. The inclusion criteria required participants residing in a specific geographic location. Hence, autocorrelation can occur in this instance if observation results are dependent in aspects such as geographic location.

Results. The results of the linear regression model were significant, F(22,289) = 7.52, p < .001, R2 = 0.36, indicating that approximately 36% of the variance in women demands for male partner condom use is explainable by history of MPIPV (11 items)

RCS1, RCS4, RCS6, RCS7, RCS9, RCS10, RCS11, RCS12, RCS13, RCS14, RCS15, age, education, and socioeconomic status (employed). RCS1, RCS7, RCS 9-13, and RCS15 did not significantly predict demands, whereas RCS4, RCS6, and RCS 14 significantly predicted demands (see Table 14).

The effect of age on women's demands for male partner condom use was examined. The 21-25 and 26-30 categories of age did not significantly predict demands, but the 31-35 category of age significantly predicted demands, B = -0.16, t(289) = -3.18, p = .002, which suggests that moving from the under 20 to 31-35 category of age will decrease the mean value of demands by 0.16 units on average.

Additionally, the effect of education on women's demands for male partner condom use was examined with the high school diploma category of education significantly predicting demands (B = 0.12, t(289) = 2.69, p = .007), which suggests that moving from the less than high school to high school diploma category of education will increase the mean value of demands by 0.12 units on average. The trade technical or vocational, some college, and college graduate category did not significantly predict demands.

Finally, the effect of socioeconomic status (employment) on women's demand for male partner condom use was examined. Employed part time and self-employed full time and part time did not significantly predict demands. Being self-employed part time did not significantly predict demands, B = 0.03, t(289) = 0.56, p = .577. This suggests that moving from the employed full time to self-employed part time does not have a significant effect on the mean of demands. However, being unemployed significantly

predicted demands (B = -0.14, t(289) = -2.38, p = .018) which suggests that moving from the employed full time to unemployed will decrease the mean value of demands by 0.14 units on average.

The overall regression model showed significant relationship between women demands for condom male partner condom use when controlling for age, education, socioeconomic status and history of MPIPV. The results showed that relationship between history of MPIPV and demands remained significant even after controlling for age, education, and socioeconomic status. The results also showed that the relationship between the age of the respondents (31-35) and demands, revealed a significantly negative association. That is, respondent in the 31-35 age tended to have lower demands score and tended to perceive that their male partners had more control over decisionmaking in the relationship. The results further showed that the education of the respondents in the category of high school diploma, had a positive relationship with demands. The results indicated that respondents who had high school graduate education were less likely to perceive themselves as having power in the decision-making in the relationship. Conversely, socioeconomic status (unemployment) showed a negative coefficient indicating that respondents reporting unemployed tended to perceive themselves as having less power in decision-making in the relationship. Therefore, the null hypothesis was rejected. Table 14 summarizes the results of the regression model. Table 14

Results for Linear Regression with RCS1, RCS4, RCS6, RCS7, RCS9, RCS10, RCS11, RCS12, RCS13, RCS14, RCS15, Age, Education, and Employed predicting Demands

Variable	В	SE	CI	β	t	р

(Intercept)	1.21	0.10	[1.01, 1.41]	0.00	11.97	<.001
RCF1	0.01	0.02	[-0.02, 0.04]	0.03	0.54	.592
RCF4	0.07	0.01	[0.04, 0.10]	0.27	5.37	<.001
RCF6	0.04	0.02	[0.01, 0.07]	0.13	2.38	.018
RCF7	0.01	0.02	[-0.02, 0.04]	0.04	0.78	.438
RCF9	0.00	0.02	[-0.03, 0.03]	0.01	0.27	.784
RCF10	-0.00	0.02	[-0.03, 0.03]	-0.01	-0.21	.832
RCF11	-0.02	0.02	[-0.05, 0.01]	-0.07	-1.39	.166
RCF12	0.01	0.01	[-0.02, 0.04]	0.04	0.83	.409
RCF13	0.01	0.02	[-0.02, 0.04]	0.03	0.64	.522
RCF14	0.07	0.02	[0.03, 0.10]	0.19	3.66	<.001
RCF15	-0.02	0.02	[-0.05, 0.01]	-0.06	-1.21	.226
Age21-25	-0.06	0.04	[-0.14, 0.01]	-0.10	-1.63	.103
Age26-30	-0.05	0.05	[-0.14, 0.04]	-0.07	-1.06	.290
Age31-35	-0.16	0.05	[-0.26, -0.06]	-0.19	-3.18	.002
High school diploma	0.12	0.04	[0.03, 0.21]	0.19	2.69	.007
Trade technical or vocational	0.09	0.05	[-0.00, 0.18]	0.13	1.87	.063
Some college	0.05	0.05	[-0.05, 0.16]	0.06	1.00	.318
College graduate	0.09	0.07	[-0.05, 0.24]	0.07	1.30	.194
Employed part time	0.07	0.05	[-0.03, 0.17]	0.10	1.38	.167
Self-employed full time	0.10	0.05	[-0.00, 0.19]	0.15	1.91	.057
Self-employed part time	0.03	0.05	[-0.07, 0.13]	0.04	0.56	.577
Unemployed	-0.14	0.06	[-0.25, -0.02]	-0.16	-2.38	.018

Note. CI is at the 95% confidence level. Results: F(22,289) = 7.52, p < .001, $R^2 = 0.36$ Unstandardized Regression Equation: Demands = 1.21 + 0.01*RCS1 + 0.07*RCS4 + 0.04*RCS6 + 0.01*RCS7 + 0.00*RCS9 - 0.00*RCS10 - 0.02*RCS11 + 0.01*RCS12 + 0.01*RCS13 + 0.07*RCS14 - 0.02*RCS15 - 0.06*Age21-25 - 0.05*Age26-30 - 0.16*Age31-35 + 0.12*High school diploma + 0.09*Trade technical or vocational + 0.05*Some college + 0.09*College graduate + 0.07*Employed part time + 0.10*Self-employed full time + 0.03*Self-employed part time - 0.14*Unemployed

Summary

The purpose of this study was to determine whether there was a relationship

between female partner demands for condom use and MPIPV, whether history of MPIPV

had a relationship to female partner decreased demands for male partner condom, and to

determine the relationship between the risk factors of age, education level,

socioeconomic status (employment) and women's demands for male partner condom use where there is a history of MPIPV in opposite sex cohabitating or married couples. It is important that female demands for male partner condom use, an essential component of risky sexual behavior associated with high prevalence of HIV among women in this region be examined further to determine whether a relationship exist between female demands for male partner condom use and MPIPV (CDC, 2014; Jones et al. 2013; Kaye 2004; Watts & Seeley, 2014).

In this chapter, I presented the data collected to explore the three research questions and hypotheses. Descriptive statistics and multiple regression models were used to determine whether there was a relationship the between women's demands for male partner condom use and MPIVP, and to conduct a statistical analysis of factors that influence women demands for male partner condom use where there is a history of MPIPV.

It was determined that there was a positive relationship between women's demands for male partner condom use to risk for MPIPV in heterosexual cohabitating or married couples. The regression was significant for RQ1 showing that there was a positive relationship between demands and the risk, hence the null hypothesis was rejected. The results for RSQ2 showed that there was a positive relationship between history of MPIPV to female partner decreased demands for male partner condom use. Therefore, the null hypothesis was rejected. For RSQ3, the results showed that the sociodemographic characteristics of the participants had a relationship with female demands for male partner condom use and MPIPV. The results showed that the

relationship between the age of the respondents (31-35) and demands had a significantly negative association, with respondent in the 31-35 age shown to have lower demands score and perceptions of male partners having more control over decision-making in the relationship. Therefore, the null hypothesis was rejected. High school diploma had a positive relationship with demands indicating that respondents who had high school graduate education were less likely to perceive themselves as having power in the decision-making in the relationship. Therefore, the null hypothesis was rejected. Socioeconomic status (unemployment) showed a negative coefficient indicating that respondents reporting unemployed tended to perceive themselves as having less power in decision-making in the relationship. Therefore, the null hypothesis was rejected.

The interpretation of the findings will be discussed in Chapter 5. The fifth and final chapter of this study will contain a review of the summary, conclusion, the study's strengths and limitations as well as the implications for social change. The chapter will end with recommendations for further research.

Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

Introduction

I conducted this study to examine whether there were any relationships between female partner decreased demands for male partner condom use and history of MPIPV with the risk factors of age, education level, socioeconomic status (employment). In addition, I conducted this study to examine additional factors that support the need for more studies to help address the relationship between the construct of female gender inequality and MPIPV, all factors contributing to risky sexual behavior and disproportionate HIV infection rates among women in the sub-Saharan region (AVERT, n.d; CDC, 2014; Jewkes, Dunkle, Nduna, 2010; Jones et al., 2013; Kaye 2004; Watts & Seeley, 2014). The dynamics of gender inequality and the associated male and female power dominance imbalance has complicated HIV prevention efforts surrounding care and prevention impacting female decision-making capacity between female demands for male partner condom use and male partner agreement to use condoms. Using a quantitative descriptive study design allowed for an effective and expeditious analysis of the study results, which is discussed in this chapter

Interpretation of the Findings

There were three research questions addressed in this study.

The key findings for RQ1 showed that a relationship existed between women's demands for male partner condom use and risk for MPIPV and female decrease demands for condom use in heterosexual cohabitating or married couples in West Africa. Findings revealed that 15% of the variance in risk for MPIPV is explainable by women's demands

for male partner condom use. Therefore, the null hypothesis for RQ1 was rejected. These findings are consistent with prior studies. For example, Swan and O'Connell (2012) found that the intimate partner violence experiences among women significantly decreases their confidence in negotiating condom use with a male partner, putting them at a higher risk of HIV infection than women who do not report having exposure to intimate partner violence.

This indicates that there are a number of social structural and cultural factors that empower men, giving them power over interpersonal decision making in social situations, including sexual relationships (AVERT, n.d; Jewkes et al.,2010). Although the results do not relate directly to the rates in sub-Saharan Africa, they do suggest that there is a correlation in other areas, which means that the results from the current study may be relevant to other populations.

These findings for the second research question revealed a relationship existed between history of MPIPV and female partner decreased demands for male partner condom use in heterosexual cohabitating or married couples in West Africa, with 27% of the variance in women demands for condom use is history of MPIPV and relationship power. Therefore, the null hypothesis was rejected.

These findings are similar to findings from previous research by Mittal, Senn, and Carey (2013), who found that MPIPV was associated with demands for condom use contributing to inconsistency with condom use. Despite HIV prevention and sexual risk reduction interventions, women who reported MPIPV also reported significant barriers including fear of violence in negotiating safer sex behaviors with their male perpetrators, thereby hindering their decision-making ability to self-protect against HIV infection, increasing HIV risk exposure. This supports the idea that it is not only inconsistent condom use that poses a challenge to female HIV vulnerability, but also the fear of violent consequences to women demands for male partner condom use plays a major role in condom use negotiation and safe sexual behavior practices. My study highlights the need for further research on the relationship variables such as MPIPV as a mediator to women demands for condom use and risky sexual behavior practices.

Results for RQ3 showed a significant negative relationship between the age category of the respondents and MPIPV indicating that women in the 31-35 category tended to have lower demands score and tended to perceive that their male partners had more control over decision-making in the relationship. Therefore, the null hypothesis was rejected. Additional results for RQ3 showed a significant relationship between MPIPV, education, and socioeconomic status (employment), indicating that some of the sociodemographic characteristics of the participants were shown to be related to demands for male partner condom use and MPIPV.

The results from this study lend support for the hypothesis that women's risk for MPIPV, history of MPIV, age, education, and socioeconomic status (employment) is related to lower levels of women's demands for male partner condom use. The findings are consistent with previous theoretical and empirical studies on the relationship between intimate partner violence and condom use negotiation, suggesting a relationship between violence and low male partner condom use demands among women. For instance, Eggers et.al (2013) argued for the unique HIV prevention needs of women, especially women

who experience MPIPV due to the interpersonal nature of relationship power and control that significantly impacts women condom use negotiation with male partner. Eggers et al called for greater emphasis on HIV interventions that target attitude toward relationship power because of its potential ability to empower women to engage in safe condom use negotiations with male partner. Daniels (2013) addressed the combination of gender power dynamics and behavior change impacting female condom use negotiation ability as factors contributing to women's vulnerability to HIV infection in sub-Saharan Africa, which must be mitigated to reduce women's HIV risk exposure.

These findings for RQ3 and from the literature are consistent with use of TPB in developing strategic HIV prevention interventions that targets the contextual features of examining not only the social and environmental influences predicting condom use, but also examining attitudes, beliefs, and behavior norms that impacts women's ability to demand male partner condom use. Though the findings showed that age and income did not mediate women's demand for condom use and MPIPV, incorporating risk factors like age, education, and socioeconomic status (employment) provided more support for TPB constructs in helping to predict how far attitude toward women's demand for condom use, along with the social pressure of gender equality and behavioral beliefs will influence the male partners' intention to use condoms during sex (see Eggers et al., 2013). Incorporating social influences and personal factors as predictors that contribute to behavioral intention, (Mtenga, Exavery, Kakoko, & Geubbels, 2015) and how this impacts women condom negotiation ability and demands for male partner condom use without fear of MPIPV is important to a successful implementation of gender-based

program outcomes among women in sub-Saharan Africa. Understanding the relationship between a history MPIPV to women demands for condom use and HIV risk exposure among women is important in developing programs addressing a combination of gender power dynamics and behavior change interventions to mitigating women's risk exposure.

There is a large body of literature that supports the need for gender-specific safe sex education to include knowledge on risky sexual behavior practices stemming from MPIPV (Jones et al. 2013; Kaye 2004; Watts & Seeley, 2014). A number of studies have established the impact of risky sexual behavior practices on HIV risk exposure and the disproportionate rate of infection among women in sub-Saharan Africa (Anderson, Campbell, & Farley, 2013). However, there is limited research on exploring MPIPV as a mediating variable to the TPB constructs which focuses on the relationship between attitudes and behavior. My study tested the relationship between women at risk for MPIPV, women experiencing MPIPV and women's confidence in their ability to negotiate condom use as well as the relationship between women's age, education, and socioeconomic status (employment) to demands for male partner condom use.

The results of the study provide a justification for beginning to explore the promotion of condom use negotiation particularly for women who are at risk for MPIPV and have experienced MPIPV and do not feel empowered to negotiate condom use with their cohabitating or married male partners. This study will contribute knowledge to bridge the gap in the literature as it pertains to specific strategies and or gender targeted interventions in heterosexual cohabitating or married couples in West Africa. Such gender-based interventions that focuses on exploring the relationship of MPIPV and female demands for male partner condom use are not well represented in the literature in heterosexual cohabitating or married couples in West Africa.

My results will add to an increased understanding of specific attitudes and behaviors toward gender inequality, MPIPV, females engaging in risky sexual behavior and knowledge on the social and structural determinants of female risk exposures. Knowledge on the unprecedented challenges organizations faced can help to design adequate interventions that will meet the needs of this population.

Limitations of Study

This study had some limitations. Recruitment of all the participants from Liberia limits generalizability. But the decision to conduct this study on women in sub-Saharan Africa, particularly from Liberia, was based on the high and disproportionate incidence of HIV infection despite the progress made in many aspects of the global response to the pandemic and the influx of "comprehensive" HIV education programs (CDC, 2014). Additionally, although there were studies on MPIPV and decision-making ability regarding women condom use negotiation, it was challenging to locate a study on the relationship between women's demands for male partner condom use and MPIPV as well as the relationship between female partner decreased demands for male partner condom and history of MPIPV with the risk factors of age, education level, socioeconomic status (employment) in this population. Thus, the lack of supporting studies presented a limitation to this study's finding.

Another limitation is that the results may be restricted to participants meeting the inclusion criteria. Furthermore, I used a nonprobability purposive homogeneous sampling

data collection technique targeting population members who were available to participate in the study. Participants were recruited using the internet making this a convenience sample for this study and inadvertently excluding some qualified participants from participating in the study which reduces the generalizability of the study. The online survey was the only means to complete this study, hence, more studies will be needed to establish the generalization of the findings.

Using selected items of the DMDS and RCS subscales presented another limitation. Without using the entire DMDS and RCS subscales, the study findings may also be restricted to the selected items used in the study which reduces the generalizability of the study results. The low Cronbach's alpha reliability values for the four items measuring risk for MPIPV and the low reliability values for the 11 items measuring history of MPIPV can influence the results limiting generalizability. Hence, more studies utilizing both subscales in its entirety to measure similar constructs will be needed to support the generalization of the findings.

Finally, the self-reported format for participants sociodemographic report presented a limitation to the study. Because the sociodemographic data and the survey responses collected were self-reported, it is not possible to fully assert that all the responses to the survey questions asked during the survey period reflected the true understanding or interpretation of women demands for condom use and MPIPV, and women decision-making capacity and condom use negotiation. It is worth noting that participants may not have accurately reported their actual understanding or interpretation of the constructs describe above, which may have affected the validity of this study.

Recommendations

I conducted this study using the online SurveyMonkey platform for data collection which contained information about the study, consent disclosure, and the demographic and survey instruments. I had a robust participant pool and responses to achieve the study sample size given the political climate and multiple civil protests occurring in the geographic location during the timeframe the survey was launched. I believe this contributed to a longer data collection timeframe that spanned over three months, two months longer than initially planned.

The recruitment and data collection procedures presented a limitation to this study. Participants were recruited via the internet and social media and were invited to participate using the SurveyMonkey link to the study which presented a limitation to this study. The online platform used to recruit participants and gathered surveyed responses came from individuals who had access to computers, cell phones with the internet, and social media. Responses from only individuals with online access presented a limitation to the participant pools, because not all participants were technologically astute or had access to the internet, impeding the ability to generalize the study results. Conducting further studies using a paper survey format with a greater sample size, from a wider geographical region representative of sub-Saharan women, could capture more informative data and provide further insights on women HIV risk exposure as it relates to women's demands for male partner condom use and risk for MPIPV in this population.

While this study had a robust sample size, the nature of the nonprobability purposive convenience sampling procedure requiring participants meeting the inclusion criteria presented another limitation to generalization to the overall population of sub-Saharan women. To help overcome this limitation in future studies, it is recommended that this study be repeated in a broader cross section of sub-Saharan African women where the possibility of recruiting a larger number of women to participate would be increased. Larger studies with a greater sample size, and broader inclusion criteria to capture a wider age range and geographical region might strengthen the generalization of the results from this study, to the overall population of sub-Saharan African women.

Furthermore, studies looking at larger population of women to include sexually active women instead of the age limitation is warranted. Distinguishing women history of MPIPV or previous exposure to MPIPV as a precipitating factor to decreased demands for male partner condom use from initial condom usage negotiation could also help to explain the results and provide supporting data to this study. A study conducted specifically on history of MPIPV and its relationship to risky sexual behavior among women as it relates to female demands for male partner condom use or condom use negotiation could improve maximization of resources focused on decreasing barriers and constraints to women's ability to safely engage in request for male partner condom use without fear of MPIPV.

Furthermore, a study focused on MPIPV as direct result of female condom use negotiation or demands for male partner condom use utilizing the entire DMDS and RCS subscales could help provide insight into the role of community working to address gender inequality diaspora and to improve and supplement HIV prevention education. Additionally, other studies could focused on examining strategic gender-based intervention education as part of HIV/AIDS intervention public health policies and programs promoting MPIPV awareness and programs geared towards eliminating the perpetuation and tolerance of violence against women.

Finally, I recommend further research to understand differences in how male partners perceived female partner condom use negotiation as part of understanding the social and structural determinants of female HIV risk exposures. The results of the study showed that there is a significant relationship between MPIPV, and level of education completed. This may indicate that other factors such as lack of comprehensive knowledge on HIV prevention education have a greater impact on women's HIV risk exposure and a major factor in the disparity and the higher rate of HIV infection reported among women in this population (AVERT, n.d).

I recommend facilitating targeted MPIPV screenings as it relates to women condom use negotiation education as part of HIV prevention education resources being provided at community health centers providing HIV education. Anderson, Campbell, Farley (2014) found that community health outreach workers can address MPIPV as a risk reduction strategy and such educational information could be conveniently provided by adequate and well-trained community health outreach workers in high-risk population as in this study. Community-based targeted MPIPV education and women condom use negotiation ability as a risk reduction strategy can also can become a part of the education to improve women demands for male partner condom use, while providing an opportunity to incorporate sustainable efforts in further reducing women HIV risk exposure (Anderson, Campbell, & Farley, 2014).

Implications

The relevance of this study aligns with the goals of UNAIDS strategy 2016-2021 which proposes an end to the AIDS epidemic as a public health threat by 2030 (UNAIDS, 2020). The findings from other studies have shown that a relationship between the construct of female gender inequality and MPIPV are known contributors to risky sexual behavior and disproportionate HIV infection rates among women (AVERT, n.d; CDC, 2014; Jewkes, Dunkle, Nduna, 2010; Jones et al. 2013; Kaye 2004; Watts & Seeley, 2014). The findings of this study suggest that the variables tested such as women demands for male partner condom use relationship to MPIPV are contributory factors to HIV risk exposures to women inability to engage in condom usage negotiation skills among women in the population of this study.

The results of this study revealed that interventions to prevent MPIPV may have a dual role in HIV prevention. As the effects of MPIPV and women demands for male partner condom use or ability to negotiate condom use is being studied in women in sub-Saharan Africa, HIV vulnerability and risk exposure among women continues to increase, contributing to the disproportionate and higher rate of HIV infection (Swan & O'Connell, 2015). Hence, a level of urgency is required to evaluate traditional HIV prevention education and develop interventions that targets at-risk population such as women high-risk exposure with MPIPV as a contributing factor. The potential implications for positive social change from the study findings include contribution to knowledge on programs and policies strengthening HIV prevention education and

interventions with targeted strategies that addresses the unique challenges for women who have limited power in relationships.

The results of the study showed that there is a significant relationship between MPIPV, and level of high school completed. Hence, targeted strategies for health promotion activities and community health outreach workers engagement of the community should be designed with relevance to the problem of MPIPV and women demands for male partner condom use. Findings from this study will contribute to the discussion on attitudes and perceptions of men and women differential of power, its association with women sexual negotiation power, and the impact of MPIPV on women condom negotiating ability and risky sexual behavior in sub-Saharan Africa. Sharing this study through global organization and international networking to include nongovernmental organizations, community stakeholders including organizations in Liberia, academic publications, presentations at seminars, grant writing initiatives, and a posted copy of the abstract on social media platforms will help disseminate the study findings to a broader community.

Conclusion

The sub-Saharan region of Africa is host to 25.5 million people infected with the HIV/AIDS virus, which is more than 70% of the global epidemic (AVERT, n.d). Countries in this region, particularly in the West and Central African nations such as Liberia, Nigeria, Cameroon, Chad, Côte d'Ivoire, Democratic Republic of the Congo, Ghana, Guinea, and Mali, are regions worst affected by the virus (AVERT, n.d). Women constitute more than half of the reported cases of people living with HIV/AIDS and is the leading cause of death for women of reproductive age 15-44 years (AVERT, n.d). The West and Central African regions are home to 6.5 million people with reports showing a disproportionate rate of HIV/AIDS infection among women, accounting for 54% of adults living with HIV/AIDS (AVERT, n.d).

There is compelling evidence that MPIPV has a relationship to the disproportionate rate of HIV/AIDS infection among women (CDC, 2014; Jones et al. 2013; Kaye 2004; Watts & Seeley, 2014). According to the Foundation for AIDS Research (2017), AIDS-related illnesses remain the second leading cause of death for young women aged 15–24 years in Africa. The socio-economic impact of the HIV/AIDS infection in this region has become a public health crisis. In some regions, women who are exposed to intimate partner violence are 50% more likely to acquire HIV than women who are not exposed (Foundation for AIDS Research, 2017), making this crisis one that will require a multidimensional approach to reducing women risk exposure rates. Given the breadth of research on the HIV/AIDS infection rates in sub-Saharan Africa and progress made in many aspects of the global response to the pandemic in this region, some of the social issues such as the unique challenges for women who have limited power in relationships limiting a woman's choice to fully engage in condom negotiation remains to be investigated (CDC, 2014). It is important that female demands for male partner condom use, an essential component of risky sexual behavior associated with high prevalence of HIV among women in this region be examined further.

This study examined whether there was a relationship between female partner demands for condom use and MPIPV, whether history of MPIPV had a relationship to female partner decreased demands for male partner condom, and to determine the relationship between the risk factors of age, education level, socioeconomic status (employment) and women's demands for male partner condom use in women experiencing history of MPIPV in opposite sex cohabitating or married. Because, my study was conducted to address a gap in the literature, findings from this quantitative study provided preliminary and significant information relating to knowledge of the challenges of women who have limited power in relationships as it relates to women's demands for male partner condom use and exposure to MPIPV.

Findings from the study may possibly aid in promoting targeted community strategies focused on the unique HIV prevention needs of women. History of MPIPV was found to be significantly related to women's decreased demand for male partner condom use with a significant relationship shown between MPIPV, age and level of education completed, and socioeconomic status. The findings from this study support the need for community health outreach worker's role in combating HIV risk exposure among women and MPIPV through targeted educational and prevention programs incorporating gender related interventions to address relationship power and a better understanding of the needs of women.

Although the results revealed a significant relationship between risk for MPIPV, history of MPIPV and women's decreased demand for male partner condom, it should be noted that history of MPIPV had a relationship to demands for condom use even after controlling, for the sociodemographic variables. This study produced significant and important findings to demonstrate the importance of HIV prevention programs focusing on reinforcement of positive behaviors that promote interventions to address women relationship power, women demands for male partner condom use and MPIPV.

References

- Ajzen, I. (1991). The theory of planned behavior. Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 50, 179-211. doi:10.1016/0749-5978(91)90020-T.
- AmfAR. (2017). Statistics worldwide. Retrieved from http://www.amfar.org/About-HIVand-AIDS/Facts-and-Stats/Statistics--Worldwide/
- Anderson, J. C., Campbell, J. C., & Farley, J. E. (2013). Interventions to address HIV and intimate partner violence in Sub-Saharan Africa: a review of the literature. *The Journal of the Association of Nurses in AIDS Care : JANAC. 24*(4), 383–390. doi:10.1016/j.jana.2013.03.003
- Appiah, A. B., Tenkorang, E. Y., & Maticka-Tyndale, E. (2017). Modeling beliefs, attitudes, and intentions of condom use among Secondary School students in Kenya. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 46 (7), 1949–1960. doi:10.1007/s10508-017-0966-9
- AVERT. (n.d). HIV and AIDS in sub-Saharan Africa regional overview. Retrieved from https://www.avert.org/hiv-and-aids-west-and-central-africa-overview
- Bates, D., Mächler, M., Bolker, B., & Walker, S. (2014). Fitting linear mixed-effects models using lme4: arXiv preprint arXiv, *Journal of Statistical Software*. 67(1). doi:10.18637/jss.v067.i01
- Beksinska, M. E., Smit, J. A., & Mantell, J. E. (2012). Progress and challenges to male and female condom use in South Africa. *Sexual Health*, 9(1), 51–58. doi:10.1071/SH11011

Center for Disease Control and Prevention. (2014). Intersection of intimate partner violence and HIV in women. Retrieved from

https://www.cdc.gov/violenceprevention/pdf/ipv/13_243567_green_aag-a.pdf

- Chambliss, D. F., & Schutt, R. K. (2016). *Making sense of the social world: Methods of investigation* (5th ed.). Los Angeles, CA: SAGE.
- Chen, Y., Li, Y., Wu, H., & Liang, L. (2014). Data envelopment analysis with missing data: A multiple linear regression analysis approach. *International Journal of Information Technology & Decision Making*, 13, 137–153. doi:10.1142/S0219622014500060.
- Connell, R. (1987). *Gender and power: Society, the person and sexual politics*. Sydney, Australia: Allen & Unwin.
- Creswell, J. (2009). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches* (Laureate Education, Inc., custom ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Cropanzano, R & Mitchell, M. S. (2005). Social exchange theory: An interdisciplinary review. *Journal of Management*, *31*(6). doi:10.1177/0149206305279602
- DeCarlo, L. T. (1997). On the meaning and use of kurtosis. *Psychological Methods*, 2(3), 292 307.
- Delva, W., & Abdool, K. Q. (2014). The HIV epidemic in Southern Africa Is an AIDSfree generation possible? *Current HIV/AIDS Report*, 11(2), 99 - 108. doi: 10.1007/s11904-014-0205-0.
- Drost, E. (2012). Validity and reliability in social science research. *Education Research and Perspectives*, 38(1), 105 - 123. Retrieved from http://www.erpjournal.net/wp-

content/uploads/2012/07/ERPV38-1.-Drost-E.-2011.-Validity-and-Reliability-in-Social-Science-Research.pdf

- Duesberg, P. H. (1989). Human immunodeficiency virus and acquired immunodeficiency syndrome: correlation but not causation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 86(3), 755–764. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC286556/
- Dunkle, K. L., Jewkes, R. K., Brown, H. C., Gray, G. E., McIntryre, J. A., & Harlow, S.
 D. (2004). Gender-based violence, relationship power, and risk of HIV infection in women attending antenatal clinics in South Africa. *The Lancet Child and Adolescent Health*, *363*(9419), 1415 1421. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(04)16098-4.
- Durevall, D. & Lindskog, A. (2015). Intimate partner violence and HIV Infection in sub-Saharan Africa. *World Development*, 27 - 42. doi:10.1016/j.worlddev.2015.02.012
- Eggers, S. M., Aarø, L. E., Bos, A. E. R., Mathews, C., Kaaya, S. F., Onya, H., & de
 Vries, H. (2016). Sociocognitive predictors of condom use and intentions among
 adolescents in three Sub-Saharan Sites. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 45, 353–
 365. doi.org/10.1007/s10508-015-0525-1
- Emerson, R. M. (1981). Social exchange theory. In M. Rosenberg & R. H. Turner (Eds.),Social psychology: Sociological perspective (pp. 30-65). New York, NY: Basic Books.
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Buchner, A. & Lang, A.-G. (2013) Statistical power analyses

using G*Power 3.1: Tests for correlation and regression analyses. *Behavior Research Methods*, 41, 1149 - 1160. doi:10.3758/BRM.41.4.1149

- Field, A. (2015). Discovering Statistics Using IBM SPSS Statistics (4th ed.). London, England: Sage.
- Fishbein M., & Ajzen I. (1975) Attitude, Intention and Behavior. An introduction to theory and research. Retrieved from http://people.umass.edu/aizen/f&a1975.htm.

Fouka, G., & Mantzorou, M. (2011). What are the major ethical issues in conducting research? Is there a conflict between the research ethics and the nature of nursing? *Health Science Journal*, 5(1), 3 - 14. Retrieved from http://www.hsj.gr/medicine/what-are-the-major- ethical-issues-in-conducting-research-is-there-a-conflict-between-the-research-ethics- and-the-nature-of-nursing.pdf

- Frankfort-Nachmias, C., & Nachmias, D. (2008). *Research methods in the social sciences*. (7th ed.). New York, NY: Worth.
- Frankfort-Nachmias, C., & Nachmias, D. (2015). *Research methods in the social sciences* (8th ed.). New York, NY: Worth.
- George, D. & Mallery, P. (2016). SPSS for Windows step by step: A simple guide and reference, 11.0 update (14th ed.). New York, NY: Allyn and Bacon.

Gruskin, S., Safreed-Harmon, K., Moore, C. L., Steiner, R. J., & Dworkin, S. L. (2014).
HIV and gender-based violence: welcome policies and programmes, but is the research keeping up? *Reproductive Health Matters*, *22*(44), 174 - 184. doi: 10.1016/S0968-8080(14)44810-9

- Hackman, C. L., & Knowlden, A. P. (2014). Theory of reasoned action and theory of planned behavior-based dietary interventions in adolescents and young adults: a systematic review. *Adolescent Health, Medicine and Therapeutics*, 5, 101–114. doi:10.2147/AHMT.S56207
- Hays, R. D., Liu, H., & Kapteyn, A. (2015). Use of internet panels to conduct surveys. Behavior Research Methods, 47(3), 685–690. doi:10.3758/s13428-015-0617-9
- Holtgrave, D.R., Qualls, N.L., Curran, J., Valdiserri, R.O., Guinan, M.E., & Parra, W.C. (1995). An Overview of the Effectiveness and Efficiency of HIV Prevention Programs. *Public Health Reports*, *110*(2), 134 145. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1382092/
- Houser, J. (2015). *Nursing research: Reading, using, and creating evidence* (3rd ed.). Burlington, MA: Jones & Bartlett.
- International Finance Cooperation. (2017). Health and education in Africa. Retrieved from

http://www.ifc.org/wps/wcm/connect/REGION_EXT_Content/Regions/Sub-Saharan+Africa/Investments/HealthEducation/

- Javadi, M., Kadkhodaee, M., Yaghoubi, M., Maroufi, M., & Shams, A. (2013). Applying Theory of Planned Behavior in Predicting of Patient Safety Behaviors of Nurses. *Materia Socio Medica*, 25(1), 52–55. doi:10.5455/msm.2013.25.52-55
- Jewkes, R. K., Dunkle, K., Nduna, M. & Shai, N. (2010). Intimate partner violence, relationship power inequity, and incidence of HIV infection in young women in South Africa: A cohort study. *The Lancet: Gender and Health Research Unit*,

Medical Research Council, 376, 41 - 48. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(10)60548-X Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS). (2017). Ending AIDS. Retrieved from http://www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/media_asset/Global_AIDS_update_2017 _en.pdf

- Jones, D., Bagga, R., Nehra, R., Deepika, Sethi, S., Walia, K., &. Weiss, S. (2013).
 Reducing sexual risk Behavior among high-risk couples in Northern India. *International Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 20(3), 344-354.
 doi.org/10.1007/s12529-012-9235-4
- Kaye, D. K. (2004). Gender inequality and domestic violence: implications for human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) prevention. *African Health Sciences*, 4(1), 67–70. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2141663/
- Kalolo, A., & Kibusi, S. M. (2015). The influence of perceived behaviour control, attitude and empowerment on reported condom use and intention to use condoms among adolescents in rural Tanzania. *Reproductive Health*, 12, 105. doi:10.1186/s12978-015-0097-5
- Kharsany, A. B. M., & Karim, Q. A. (2016). HIV Infection and AIDS in Sub-Saharan
 Africa: Current Status, Challenges and Opportunities. *The Open AIDS Journal*, 10, 34–48. doi:10.2174/1874613601610010034
- Kimberlin, C., & Winterstein, A. (2008). Validity and reliability of measurement
 Instruments used in research. *American Journal of Health System Pharmacists*,
 65(23), 2276-2284. doi:10.2146/ajhp070364National Institutes of Health

Publication.

- Liberia Demographic and Health Survey. (2013). Retrieved from https://dhsprogram.com/pubs/pdf/FR291/FR291.pdf
- Liberia HIV&AIDS Response Progress Report. (2016). Retrieved from www.unaids.org/en/file/110934/download?token=5fJHV6Hq
- Mahendru, M. (2013). Bivariate analysis of the relationship between advertising and sales. *Asia-Pacific Journal of Management Research and Innovation*. doi:10.1177/2319510X13519369
- Maticka-Tyndale, E. (2012). Condoms in sub-Saharan Africa. *Sexual Health*, 9, 59-72. doi:10.1071/sh11033
- Menard, S. (2009). *Logistic regression: From introductory to advanced concepts and applications*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

McMahon, J. M., Volpe, E. M., Klostermann, K., Trabold, N., & Xue, Y. (2015). A systematic review of the psychometric properties of the Sexual Relationship
Power Scale in HIV/AIDS research. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 44(2), 267–294. doi:10.1007/s10508-014-0355-6

- Meadowbrooke, C. C., Veinot, T. C., Loveluck, J., Hickok, A., & Bauermeister, J. A. (2014). Information behavior and HIV testing intentions among young men at risk for HIV/AIDS. *Journal of the Association for Information Science and Technology*, 65(3), 609–620. doi.org/10.1002/asi.22801
- Mitchell, M. L., & Jolley, J. M. (2004). *Research design explained* (5th ed.). Belmont, CA: Wadsworth/Thomson Learning.

- Mittal, M., Senn, T. E., Carey, M. P.(2013). Fear of violent consequences and condom use among women attending an STD clinic. *Women & Health.* 53(8), 795-807. doi:10.1080/03630242.2013.847890
- Mtenga, S. M., Exavery, A., Kakoko, D., & Geubbels, E. (2015). Social cognitive determinants of HIV voluntary counselling and testing uptake among married individuals in Dar es Salaam Tanzania: Theory of Planned Behaviour (TPB). *BMC Public Health*, 15(213). doi.org/10.1186/s12889-015-1545-4
- Najafi M, Ardalan A, Akbarisari A, Noorbala AA, & Elmi H. (2017). The theory of planned behavior and disaster preparedness. *PLOS Currents Disasters*, 1. doi: 10.1371/currents.dis.4da18e0f1479bf6c0a94b29e0dbf4a72.

Pallant, J. (2007). SPSS survival manual (3rd ed.). New York, NY: McGraw-Hill

Population Reference Bureau. (2016). The status of the HIV/AIDS epidemic in Sub-Saharan Africa. Retrieved from

http://www.prb.org/Publications/Articles/2002/TheStatusoftheHIVAIDSEpidemic inSubSaharanAfrica.aspx

- Protogerou, C., Flisher, A. J., Aarø, L. E., & Mathews, C. (2012): The theory of planned behaviour as a framework for predicting sexual risk behaviour in sub-Saharan African youth: A critical review. *Journal of Child & Adolescent Mental Health*, 24(1), 15-35. doi:10.2989/17280583.2011.621067.
- Pulerwitz, J., Gortmaker, S. L., & DeJong, W. (2000). Measuring sexual relationship power in HIV/STD research. Sex Roles, 42(7-8), 637- 660. doi:10.1023/A:1007051506972

- Pulerwitz, J., Amaro, H., De Jong, W., Gortmaker, S.L., & Rudd, R. (2002). Relationship power, condom use and HIV risk among women in the USA. AIDS Care: *Psychological and Socio-medical Aspects of AIDS/HIV*, 14(6), 789 - 800. doi:10.1080/0954012021000031868
- Ramjee, G., & Daniels, B. (2013). Women and HIV in sub-Saharan Africa. *AIDS Research and Therapy*, *10*(30), 1-9. doi:10.1186/1742-6405-10-30.
- Remme, M., Siapka, M., Vassal, A., Heise, L., Jacobi, J., Ahumada, C., Gay, J., & Watts, C. (2014). The cost and cost-effectiveness of gender-responsive interventions for HIV: A systematic review. *Journal of International AIDS Society*, *17*(1), 1-25. doi:10.7448/IAS.17.1.19228
- Rigby, S. W. & Johnson, L. F. (2017). The relationship between intimate partner violence and HIV: A model-based evaluation. *Journal of Infectious Disease Modelling*, 1-19. doi:10.1016/j.idm.2017.02.002
- Roztocki, N. (2001). Using internet-based surveys for academic research: Opportunities and problems. *American Society of Engineering Management (ASEM)*, 1- 6. Retrieved from http://www2.newpaltz.edu/~roztockn/alabam01.pdf
- Russo, D. A., Stochl, J., Painter, M., Shelley, G. F., Jones, P. B., & Perez, J. (2015). Use of the theory of planned behaviour to assess factors influencing the identification of students at clinical high-risk for psychosis in 16+ Education. *BMC Health Services Research*, 15, 411. doi:10.1186/s12913-015-1074-y
- Sacolo, H. N., Chung, M., Chu, H., Liao, Y., Chen, C., Ou, K., Lu, C., & Chou, K. (2013). High risk sexual behaviors for HIV among the in-school youth in

Swaziland: A structural equation modeling approach. Retrieved from doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0067289

- Schalock, R. L., Gomez, L. E., Verdugo, M. A., & Claes, C. (2017). Evidence and evidence-based practices: Are we there yet? *Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities*, 55, 112–119. doi:10.1352/1934-9556-55.2.112
- Semungus, A., Tafese, Z., & Semella, T. (2016). Application of the theory of planned behavior to assess the determinants of HIV/AIDS risk among high school students in Hawassa City, Ethiopia. *Journal of Community & Public Health Nursing*, 3,151. doi:10.4172/2471-9846.1000151
- Shi, C., Kouyoumdjian, F. G., & Dushoff, J. (2013). Intimate partner violence is associated with HIV infection in women in Kenya: A cross-sectional analysis. *BMC Public Health*, 13, 512. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-13-512
- Sovran, S. (2013). Understanding culture and HIV/AIDS in sub-Saharan Africa, Sahara-J: Journal of Social Aspects of HIV/AIDS, 10(1), 32–41. doi:10.1080/17290376.2013.807071
- Stadler, J., Delany-Moretlwe, S., Palanee, T. & Rees, H. (2014). Hidden harms:
 Women's narratives of intimate partner violence in a microbicide trial, South
 Africa. Social Science & Medicine, 110, 49 55.
 doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2014.03.021
- Stevens, J. P. (2009). Applied multivariate statistics for the social sciences (5th ed.). Routledge Academic.
Stockman, J. K., Lucea, M. B., & Campbell, J. C. (2013). Forced sexual initiation, sexual intimate partner violence and HIV risk in women: A global review of the literature. *AIDS and Behavior*, 17(3), 832–847. doi:10.1007/s10461-012-0361-4

Sun, G., Acheampong, R. A., Lin, H., & Pun, V. C. (2015). Understanding walking behavior among university students using theory of planned behavior. *International Journal Environmental Research Public Health*, 12, 13794-13806; doi:10.3390/ijerph121113794

- Swan, H., & O'Connell, D. J. (2012). The impact of intimate partner violence on women's condom negotiation efficacy. *Journal of interpersonal violence*, 27(4), 775–792. doi:10.1177/0886260511423240
- Tabachnick, B. G., & Fidell, L. S. (2007). *Using Multivariate Statistics* (5th ed.). New York: Allyn and Bacon.
- Tabachnick, B. & Fidell, L. (2013). *Using multivariate statistics*. (7th ed.) New York, NY: Pearson Education.
- Tarkang, E. E, & Zotor, F.B. (2015). Application of the health belief model (HBM) in HIV prevention: A literature review. *Central African Journal of Public Health*, *1*(1), 1-8. doi:10.11648/j.cajph.20150101.11
- Turchik, J. A., & Gidycz, C. A. (2012). Prediction of sexual risk behaviors in college students using the theory of planned behavior: A prospective analysis. *Journal of Social & Clinical Psychology*, 31(1), 1-27. doi:10.1521/jscp.2012.31.1.1
- United Nations Millennium Goals. (2015). Millennium Development Goals Report. Retrieved from http://www.un.org/millenniumgoals/2015_MDG_Report/

pdf/MDG%202015%20rev %20(July%201).pdf

- UNAIDS. (2018). A condom crisis at the centre of the HIV prevention crisis. Retrieved from http://www.unaids.org/en/resources/presscentre/featurestories/2018/ july/20180723_ condoms-AIDS2018
- UNAIDS. (2020). UNAIDS | 2016–2021 Strategy: On the Fast-Track to end AIDS. Retrieved from https://www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/media_asset/20151027_ UNAIDS_PCB37_15_18_EN_rev1.pdf
- United States Agency for Internal Development (USAID) Demographic Health Surveys Program. (2017). Retrieved from https://dhsprogram.com/What-We-Do/Survey-Types/index.cfm
- USAID. (2015). Intimate partner violence (IPV) in Zambia: Sociodemographic determinants and association with use of maternal health care. Retrieved from https://dhsprogram.com/pubs/pdf/WP121/WP121.pdf
- U.S. Department of Health & Human Services and Secretary's Minority AIDS Initiative Fund (SMAIF). (2018). Global Statistics: The Global HIV/AIDS Epidemic.
 Retrieved from https://www.hiv.gov/hiv-basics/overview/data-and-trends/globalstatistics
- Waithaka, M. & Bessinger, R. (2001). Sexual behavior and condom use in the context of HIV prevention in Kenya. *Population Services International*. Retrieved from http://pdf.usaid.gov/pdf_docs/PNADA257.pdf
- Watts, C., & Seeley J. (2014). Addressing gender inequality and intimate partner violence as critical barriers to an effective HIV response in sub-Saharan Africa. *Journal of*

the International AIDS Society, *17*(19849), 1-3. Retrieved from http://www.jiasociety.org/index.php/jias/article/view/19849/html

- Westfall, P. H., & Henning, K. S. S. (2013). *Texts in statistical science: Understanding advanced statistical methods.* New York, NY: Taylor & Francis.
- Wingood, G. M., & DiClemente, R. J. (1997). The effects of an abusive primary partner on the condom use and sexual negotiation practices of African-American women. American *Journal of Public Health*, 87(6), 1016–1018. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1380941/
- World Health Organization Fact Sheet. (2014). Violence against women: Intimate partner and sexual violence against women. Retrieved from http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs239/en/
- World Health Organization Fact Sheet. (2017a). HIV/AIDS. Retrieved from https://www.afro.who.int/health-topics/hivaids
- World Health Organization. (2017b). Gender, equity and human rights. Retrieved from http://www.who.int/gender-equity-rights/understanding/gender-definition/en/
- World Health Organization. (2018). Condoms for HIV Prevention. Retrieved from http://www.who.int/hiv/topics/condoms/en/
- World Population Data Sheet. (2013). 2013 World Population Data Sheet. Retrieved from http://www.prb.org/Publications/Datasheets/2013/2013-world-population-datasheet/data-sheet.aspx

Instructions: Please respond accurately to all the below question items by clicking on the radio button next to the items and write in the answer to the box indicating your correct response.

- 1. How old are you?
- Under 20 years old
- \circ 21-25 years old
- o 26-30 years old
- o 31-35 years olds
- 2. Please give the years of high school education (grade) completed:
- Less than a high school diploma
- o High school diploma or equivalent
- o Trade/technical/vocational training
- Some college, no degree
- o College graduate
- 3. Are you employed at a paid job?
- Yes, employed full time (40 or more hours per week)
- Yes, employed part time (up to 39 hours per week)
- Yes, I am self-employed full time (40 or more hours per week)
- Yes, I am self-employed part time (up to 39 hours per week)
- o No, I am unemployed
- 4. What is your annual (yearly) income in U.S dollar?
- Less than \$10,000 US
- \$10,000 to \$19,999 US
- \$20,000 to \$29,999 US
- \$30,000 to \$39,999 US
- Over \$ 40,000 US
- 5. Since you were married or living with your partner, has you husband/partner:
- o Insulted, threatened you verbally, or made you feel bad about yourself?
- Belittled or humiliated you in front of others?
- Done things to scare or intimidate you on purpose?
- o Pulled your hair, slapped you, or thrown something that could hurt you?
- Punched or hit you with his fists?
- Thrown you to the ground or kicked you with his feet?
- Choked or attacked you with a knife or other weapon?
- Burned you or poured hot liquid onto you?

Relationship Control Factor/Subscale

Each of the following items was scored on a 4-point Likert scale, where 1 = Strongly Agree, 2 = Agree, 3 =Disagree, and 4 = Strongly Disagree.

- 1. If I asked my partner to use a condom, he would get violent.
- 2. If I asked my partner to use a condom, he would get angry.
- 3. Most of the time, we do what my partner wants to do.
- 4. My partner won't let me wear certain things.
- 5. When my partner and I are together, I'm pretty quiet.
- 6. My partner has more say than I do about important decisions that affect us.
- 7. My partner tells me who I can spend time with.
- 8. If I asked my partner to use a condom, he would think I'm having sex with other people.
- 9. I feel trapped or stuck in our relationship.
- 10. My partner does what he wants, even if I do not want him to.
- 11. I am more committed to our relationship than my partner is.
- 12. When my partner and I disagree, he gets his way most of the time.
- 13. My partner gets more out of our relationship than I do.
- 14. My partner always wants to know where I am.
- 15. My partner might be having sex with someone else.

Decision-Making Dominance Factor/Subscale

Each of the following items was scored in the following manner: 1 = Your Partner, 2 =Both of You Equally, and 3 =You.

- 16. Who usually has more say about whose friends to go out with?
- 17. Who usually has more say about whether you have sex?
- 18. Who usually has more say about what you do together?
- 19. Who usually has more say about how often you see one another?
- 20. Who usually has more say about when you talk about serious things?
- 21. In general, who do you think has more power in your relationship?
- 22. Who usually has more say about whether you use condoms?
- 23. Who usually has more say about what types of sexual acts you do?

Appendix C: SRPS Permission Request Letter and Response

Greetings Linda,

Thank you for your note and your interest in the SRPS. Part of my interest in developing the measure was to be of use to / available to the field. So, there is no copy-right per se, but I would ask you to reference me appropriately in your work, and I would appreciate hearing about results from your study.

As you request that I state... I grant permission requested on the terms stated in this letter.

I have attached the original paper, which includes the items in the scale and recommended scoring instructions (in the appendix), a 2015 systematic review of scale uses and psychometric properties, and a book chapter that will be coming out shortly (which includes an overview of the scale and lessons learned)....

Good luck with your research, and please keep in touch!

Best wishes,

Julie

Julie Pulerwitz, ScD

To: Dr. Julie Pulerwitz, ScD

August 23, 2018

Re: Permission: to Use an Existing Survey Questionnaires

Dear Dr. Pulwewitz,

I am a doctoral student from Walden University writing my dissertation titled "Understanding Male Perpetrated Intimate Partner Violence and Women's Demands for Condom Use" under the directions of my dissertation committee chaired by Dr. Leslie Hussey. The objective of my research study is to explore if female demands for male partner condom use serves as a risk for male perpetrated intimate partner violence (MPIPV) and risky sexual behavior. I am also exploring factors influencing the relationship between female partner demands for condom use and MPIPV. I will be using the online SurveyMonkey web format to administer the survey questionnaires.

I am writing to ask for your written permission to use the sexual relationship power scale (SRPS) in my research study and. I would like to use and print your survey questionnaires under the following conditions:

I will use this survey instrument only for my research study and will not sell or use it for any compensated or curriculum development activities.

I will include a statement of attribution and copyright statement on all copies of the instrument. If you have a specific statement of attribution that you would like for me to include, please provide it in your response.

At your request, I will send my research study upon completion of the study and/or will provide a hyperlink to the final manuscript. I will also at your request send a copy of reports and articles that make use of these survey data promptly to your attention.

I would also appreciate receiving copies of any supplemental material that will help me administer the test and analyze the results such as the test questionnaire, standard instructions for administering the test, and scoring procedures, if available. If these are acceptable terms and conditions, please indicate responding to this email with a confirmation granting me permission to use.

Please state the following in your response; "I grant permission requested on the terms stated in this letter."

Please include your name, title, organization address, and contact information. If you do not control the copyright for these materials, I would appreciate any information you can provide concerning the proper person or organization I should contact. I thank you for your assistance in this matter. Sincerely,

Línda M. Edwards Linda M. Edwards Doctoral (PhD in Nursing-Healthcare Administration) Candidate Expected Date of Completion: March 2019